# Antal Kerpely Doctoral School of Materials Science and Technology



# Flame Retarding-Stabilizing Behavior of Plasticized Poly(vinyl chloride) Containing Novel Heavy Metal Free Modifier

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Polymers Engineering as a Part of Stipendium Hungaricum Scholarship in Material Science and Technology

By

Ali Ibrahim Moslem

Supervisor

Prof. Emeritus. Dr. Kálmán Marossy

Head of the Doctoral School

Prof. Dr. Zoltán Gácsi

Institute of Ceramic and Polymer Engineering Faculty of Material Science and Engineering University of Miskolc Miskolc, Hungary 2021

### **RECOMMENDATION FROM THE SUPERVISOR TO**

#### Mr. Ali Ibrahim Moslem

PhD Candidate at University of Miskolc Antal Kerpely Doctoral School of

#### Materials Science and Technology

Mr. *Ali Ibrahim Moslem* (M.Sc. in Materials Engineering, Engineering College, Babylon University, IRAQ) had joined our Antal Kerpely Doctoral School at University of Miskolc four years ago. He has 10 years experience in higher education, e.g. Lecturer at Technical Institute of Babylon, Iraq. He had a well-prepared research plan, namely the fire behavior of plasticized PVC and opening new perspectives in this field. Mr. *Ali Ibrahim Moslem* (Al-Mosawi) already had significant experience in the field of polymer flame retardancy and published several papers. However, his scientific interest is much broader; he also familiar with rubber technology, composite materials and polymer processing .

Mr. *Ali Ibrahim Moslem* successfully completed his doctoral studies, planning his experiments well — sometimes in too much detail. As an experienced speaker, he performed excellently in his seminar lectures .

Wanhua BorsodChem Zrt provided opportunity to carry out important parts of its experimental work in its laboratory; using the company's infrastructure. He learned every workflow (mixing, roll-milling, sample preparation, L.O.I. tests, DSC, DMA, different heat stability tests, rheological measurements and so on) and gained a good manual practice, too. (Thanks again to BorsodChem for the help.) If it was necessary, he also joined the tasks of the laboratory. I have to highlight out that he considered it very important to observe the material under study; the "direct touch" during the research.

His first studies served as a good comparison with traditional flame retardants  $(Sb_2O_3)$  to evaluate designed new materials. During the experiments with nanocement (Oxydtron), he noticed that the material also has other beneficial effects, namely significantly improving the thermal stability of PVC. I think this observation is a good indication of his researcher's character and ability.

Mr. *Ali Ibrahim Moslem* is able to compile an article independently and quickly. He has multiple exceeded the doctoral school's requirement, his publication list speaks for itself. (He published 30 papers during his PhD study and obtained 500 credits.)

In all, his overall achievements can be highly valued; he has largely met the requirements of the Antal Kerpely Doctoral School of Material Science of Technology. I can only wish him to achieve his goals for both the successful completion of his doctoral studies and the realization of his dreams in his future scientific and personal life.

Kazincbarcika, 3rd May 2021

Dr. Kálmán Marossy professor emeritus

#### Abstract

There is no universal super-material in the universe, but there are compounds that can have more than one characteristic that make it unconventional, and one of these is discovered in this study, which is Oxydtron (nano cement). Oxydtron has proven excellent efficiency as a flame retardant and surprisingly also showed excellent heat stabilizing effect. Tests carried out were limiting oxygen index, static heat stability, congo-red, differential scanning calorimetry, dehydrochlorination, capillary rheometry analysis, dynamic mechanical analysis, and color change measurement.

These thermal tests proved the ability of Oxydtron to improve the properties of poly(vinyl chloride) at high temperatures reducing the risks associated with the combustion of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) by increasing its thermal stability, flame retardation, and rate of degradation was effectively decreased. These tests has been shown that Oxydtron is not only a material used to improve the properties of concrete; but also a material that has shown a significant indication in the stabilization process of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride).

As well, the structural changes in the poly(vinyl chloride) layer located directly under the flame zone (heat affected zone-HAZ), which is exposed to high temperatures without burning, have been checked by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and FLIR analysis. Images obtained from SEM and FLIR analysis for the heat affected zone of limiting oxygen index samples showed a significant decrease in the chlorine content in the poly(vinyl chloride) structure accompanied by considerable stability of the carbon content when compared to the untested samples images. But after adding Oxydtron, the chlorine percentage was maintained at acceptable levels. Also, the effect of the processing method on poly(vinyl chloride)'s properties has been studied. The results obtained from the L.O.I test showed that the extrusion method was better than the rolling method for L.O.I. This behavior because the heat will be distributed uniformly in the screw-extrusion process, which reduces thermal stresses in the final product.

# Összefoglaló

A világegyetemben nem létezik univerzális anyag, de vannak olyan anyagok, amelyek szokatlan módon egynél több hasznos tulajdonsággal is rendelkeznek. Ezek egyike a jelen tanulmányban bemutatott Oxydtron nano cement. Az Oxydtron kiváló lángálló adaléknak bizonyult de meglepő módon kiváló hőstabilizáló hatása is van. Oxigén index (L.O.I.), statikus hőstabilitás, kongó vörös stabilitás, sósavlehasadás, kapillárviszkozimetriás és dinamikus mechanikai vizsgálatokat végeztünk.

Ezek a termikus mérések igazolták, hogy az Oxydtron jelentősen javítja a PVC magas hőmérsékleten való viselkedését, nevezetesen csökkenti az égésre való hajlamát és növeli a termikus stabilitását. Az Oxydtron így nem csupán eredeti alkalmazására, azaz a beton tulajdonságainak javítására alkalmas, hanem egyben a lágyított PVC stabilizálására és égésgátlására is alkalmas.

A PVC égésekor a közvetlenül a láng alatti zónát (HAZ, heat affected zone) hőkamera (FLIR) analízissel és pásztázó elektronmikroszkóppal (SEM) vizsgáltuk. Ez a zóna égés nélkül van kitéve magas hőmérsékletnek. A FLIR és SEM analízissel készített képek azt mutatják, hogy az oxigén index mérésekor vizsgált próbatestek láng alatti zónájában a klórtartalom jelentősen csökkent míg a széntartalom viszonylag állandó maradt. Az Oxydtron tartalmú minták esetében a klórtartalom elfogadható mértékű marad.

Vizsgáltuk a PVC feldolgozástechnikai tulajdonságait is. Azt találtuk, hogy az extruziós feldolgozás után ugyanannak a keveréknek jobbak voltak az L.O.I. eredményei, mint amelyeket hengerléssel és azt követő préseléssel készítettünk. Feltételezzők, hogy az extrudált próbatestekben egyenletesebb a hőeloszlás csökkentve a termikus stresszt.

iii

# Acknowledgement

As we walk in the darkness of the road carrying the science flame, we need someone to stand by us and offer the helping hand to keep this flame burning. Many people stood by me during my study, and I have to offer them my thanks, appreciation, and gratitude.

First of all, I'd like to thank my wife and companion, *Shaymaa*, for standing by my side, and although she was pregnant with our son *Hussein*, we used to go together to the BorsodChem, and *Hussein*, who shared the work with us, deserves part of this dissertation.

I would also like to thank my supervisor *Prof. Emeritus. Dr. Kálmán Marossy*, for the assistance, comments, and essential opinions he provided.

My gratitude and appreciation journey arrived at BorsodChem Zrt., which nurtured me for three years and provided me with the opportunity to complete my work requirements. It was difficult years, but full of energy, vitality, and fun to work. I stand with respect for PVC laboratory staff, *Csaba Kónya*, *Gabriella Szemere*, and *Krisztina Tózsa*, for their generous assistance and support throughout the three years of my work in BorsodChem. Also, I would like to thank *Irén Buzellákné Pető* at the degradation laboratory for her assistance.

My journey of gratitude and appreciation takes me back to the University of Miskolc and, in particular, to the SEM laboratory to thank the wonderful, gentlemanly, and kind-hearted Arp add Kovach who gave me unlimited assistance.

I go up the stairs to the polymer department to say thank you, *Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tamás Szabó* for helping me as a reviewer throughout the study period. Also, I cannot forget to extend my thanks and gratitude to *Prof. Emeritus. Dr. László Gömze* for his support.

I go to the third floor, where I find the *Assoc. Prof. Dr. Póliska Csaba*, to say thank you so much for your assistance.

Ali Ibrahim Moslem February, 2021

# Contents

No.	Title	Page
Ch 1	Introduction	1
1 1	Background	1
1.1	Statistics on Fires Risk	1
1.2	Reducing Fires Risk	3
Ch 2	Flame Retardants	5
21	Historical Overview of Flame Retardants	5
2.1	Categorized of Flame Retardants	6
2.2.1	Inorganic Flame Retardants	7
2.2.2	Phosphorus-Containing Flame Retardants	7
2.2.3	Nitrogen-Containing Flame Retardants	7
2.2.4	Halogenated Organic Flame Retardants	7
2.3	Classification of Flame Retardants	8
2.3.1	Additive Flame Retardants	8
2.3.2	Reactive Flame Retardants	8
2.3.3	Additive- Reactive Flame Retardants	9
2.4	Working Mechanism of Flame Retardants	9
2.4.1	Physical Mode	9
2.4.1.1	Cooling	9
2.4.1.2	Formation of Insulation Laver	10
2.4.1.3	Dilution	10
2.4.2	Chemical Mode	10
2.4.2.1	Gaseous Phase Reaction	10
2.4.2.2	Solid Phase Reaction	10
2.5	Flammability and Combustibility	12
2.6	Flame Retardants and Environment	13
Ch. 3	Poly(vinyl chloride)	15
3.1	Characteristics of Poly(vinyl chloride)	15
3.2	Degradation of Poly(vinyl chloride)	17
3.3	Flammability Performance of Poly(vinyl chloride)	19
3.4	Environmental Considerations	21
3.5	Selection of Proper Processing Method	22
Ch. 4	Oxydtron	24
4.1	What is Oxydtron?	24
4.2	Chemical Composition of Oxydtron	24
4.3	Appearance of Oxydtron	25
4.4	The Uses of Oxydtron	25
Ch. 5	Literatures Survey	26
5.1	Traditional Additives	26
5.2	Environmentally Friendly Additives	28
Ch. 6	Knowledge Gap and Objectives	30

<b>Ch. 7</b>	Experimental Procedure	31
7.1	Materials	31
7.2	Selection of Processing Method	33
7.3	Mixing Procedure	33
7.3.1	Primary Mixing Process	33
7.3.2	Secondary Mixing Process	34
7.4	Samples Preparation	35
7.5	The Tests	37
7.5.1	Static Heat Stability Test	38
7.5.2	Limiting Oxygen Index Test	38
7.5.3	Congo-Red Test	39
7.5.4	Differential Scanning Calorimetry Test (DSC)	40
7.5.5	Dynamic Mechanical Analysis Test (DMA)	41
7.5.6	Dehydrochlorination Test	41
7.5.6.1	Standard Method	42
7.5.6.2	Novel Evaluation Method	42
7.5.7	Color Change Measurement	43
7.5.8	Capillary Rheometry Analysis	44
7.5.9	Scanning Electron Microscopy	44
7.5.10	Fourier Transform Infrared Analysis (FTIR)	45
7.5.11	Oxides Analysis	46
7.5.12	Particle Size Distribution Analysis	47
7.5.13	FLIR Thermal Gradient Image Analysis	47
Ch. 8	Results and Discussion	48
8.1	Flame Retardancy Test	48
8.2	Static Heat Stability Test	50
8.3	Color Change Measurement	51
8.4	Congo-Red Test	53
8.5	Differential Scanning Calorimetry Test (DSC)	55
8.6	Dehydrochlorination Test	57
8.6.1	Results of Novel Evaluation Method	57
8.6.2	Results of Standard Method	66
8.7	Capillary Rheometry Analysis	71
8.8	Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)	77
8.9	Heat Affected Zone (HAZ) Analysis	79
8.9.1	FLIR Thermal Gradient Analysis	79
8.9.2	Scanning Electron Microscopy Analysis	81
8.9.3	Processing Method	88
Ch. 9	Conclusions	90
9.1	Conclusions of Tests for P.PVC Containing Oxydtron	90
9.2	Conclusions of Processing Methods	92
Ch. 10	New Scientific Results	93
References		95
Appendix		118

### **Chapter One: Introduction**

#### **1.1 Background**

When Prometheus stole the fire from the Hephaestus god of blacksmiths in Mount Olympus according to the Greek mythology and gave it to humans to help them overcome the difficulties of their daily lives related to heating, lighting, and cooking; he didn't realize that fire would be useful to humans but also would bring destruction to them if they didn't use it safely. So, they have tried to find methods to extinguish the fire. Then they thought of something entirely new: creating materials that could resist fires reduce their risk and even completely stop it; thus, the concept of flame retreading appeared for the first time; and the subsequent discovery of materials "flame retardants" have the ability to break the cycle of fire [1-5]. As the concept of flame retardation developed, it became necessary to develop thinking, create new plans, and devise more modern and comprehensive strategies in this field.; now, the search for new and unconventional materials in the industry is imperative to balance environmental considerations for the safe use of non-polluting materials (or at least with limited damage) and to maintain the best possible achievement of new materials compared to traditional materials.

Many countries, including the European Union, are now seeking to restrict or even prohibit the use of environmentally harmful and persistent flame retardants. So the main aim should not use new engineering materials in the industry but to be more efficient or at least maintain the same level of performance of the traditional materials currently available, which can be termed metaphorically - the sustainability of properties - as with the sustainability of natural materials, otherwise there will be no benefit from the use of such materials [1,6-11].

### **1.2 Statistics on Fire Risks**

Every year, fires cause significant human and financial losses in all countries, and the proportion of these losses varies from one country to another depending on the equipment and techniques used to reduce the fires risk, as shown in Table 1 and Figure 1.1, which are represented the economic-statistical evaluation of fire costs according to the center of fire statistics report issued in the year 2016 [12].

		Cost in portion of GDP, %						
N	Country	Direct losses	Indirect losses	Cost of fire service	Fire protection in buildings	Fire insurance administrations	$\sum_{i=1}^{5} C_i$	$\frac{\text{Expenditure}}{\text{losses}}$ $\frac{\text{C3} + \text{C4} + \text{C5}}{\text{C1} + \text{C2}}$
		C <sub>1</sub>	C <sub>2</sub>	C <sub>3</sub>	C <sub>4</sub>	C <sub>5</sub>		
1	Australia	0.07	-	0.17	-	-	-	-
2	Czech Republic	0.07	-	-	0.16	-	-	-
3	Finland	0.17	0.011	0.19	-	0.03	-	-
4	France	0.20	-	-	-	-	-	-
5	Germany	0.12	0.014	-	-	-	-	-
6	Hungary	0.02	-	0.13	-	-	-	-
7	Italy	0.02	-	-	0.35	0.04	-	-
8	Japan	0.12	0.060	0.26	0.12	0.09	0.650	2.61
9	Netherlands	0.15	-	0.21	0.31	-	-	-
10	New Zealand	0.12	-	0.16	0.24	-	-	-
11	Poland	0.09	-	0.16	-	-	-	-
12	Singapore	0.04	0.027	0.03	0.40	0.02	0.517	6.72
13	Spain	0.08	-	-	-	-	-	-
14	Sweden	0.18	0.060	0.13	0.20	0.05	0.620	1.58
15	UK	0.13	0.008	0.20	0.29	0.10	0.728	3.84
16	USA	0.10	0.007	0.29	0.29	0.12	0.807	6.54
Avrg.		0.12	0.027	0.18	0.26	0.05	0.652	3.40

Table 1.1. Economic-statistical evaluation of fire costs [12]



Figure 1.1. Economic-statistical evaluation graph of fire costs [12]

As shown in Table 1.1, many countries still do not pay great importance to fire protection, but at the same time spend much of their gross domestic product (GDP) to extinguish the fires after ignite, but it is best to be concerned with how to prevent the fire from happening. The government expenditure of European Union Members on fire-protection services in 2018 was 29.5 billion euro, representing just 0.5% of the government's total spending. Simultaneously, the public spending on these services is still constant at around 0.4%-0.5% since the start of the time series in 2001 as illustrated in Table 1.2 [14]. Unfortunately, no data is available for the years 2019 and 2020.

In 2018, fire safe Europe, the European association for fire safety, called for the European Union to change its building protection requirements. Despite more than 5000 fires happen in Europe every day, there is no systematic strategy for the members of the European Union. This means that European citizens do not have the same chances of survival when the building fire [15,16].

#### **1.3 Reducing Fire Risk**

The principle of fire risk reduction is generally based upon many parameters: the provision of traditional fire extinguishers; the use or enhancement of thermal resistance to materials with low inflammability ranges when highly inflammable, such as polymers where low thermal resistance of these important materials considered the primary limitation to apply these materials in such applications required high thermal resistance performance; the effective design of buildings for escaping fire supplies to mitigate the loss of people; As well as choosing appropriate furniture that meets fire safety standards and contains environmentally friendly flame retardants [6,17,18].

All the above points are relevant to the critical factor, which is the deployment of a "fire prevention culture" that is entirely dependent on people's awareness of fire hazards and the extent to which they apply safety arrangements to prevent fires or reduce it [19,20].

3

Country	Million Euro	GDP	Total, %
European Union, 27 countries (from 2020)	29,516.9	0.2	0.5
European Union, 28 countries (2013-2020)	33,130.5	0.2	0.5
Belgium	893.0	0.2	0.4
Bulgaria	180.2	0.3	0.9
Czechia	590.3	0.3	0.7
Denmark	181.7	0.1	0.1
Germany	8,150.0	0.2	0.5
Estonia	63.8	0.2	0.6
Ireland	242.1	0.1	0.3
Greece	505.0	0.3	0.6
Spain	1,943.0	0.2	0.4
France	6,807.0	0.3	0.5
Croatia	123.3	0.2	0.5
Italy	3,171.0	0.2	0.4
Cyprus	36.3	0.2	0.4
Latvia	63.4	0.2	0.6
Lithuania	100.3	0.2	0.7
Luxembourg	100.3	0.2	0.4
Hungary	289.4	0.2	0.5
Malta	9.1	0.1	0.2
Netherlands	1,740.0	0.2	0.5
Austria	654.6	0.2	0.3
Poland	999.2	0.2	0.5
Portugal	291.2	0.1	0.3
Romania	584.4	0.3	0.8
Slovenia	65.4	0.1	0.3
Slovakia	194.6	0.2	0.5
Finland	576.0	0.2	0.5
Sweden	962.3	0.2	0.4
United Kingdom	3,613.6	0.1	0.4
Iceland	20.3	0.1	0.2
Norway	942.4	0.3	0.5
Switzerland	725.4	0.1	0.4

Table 1.2: Total government expenditure on fire-protection services in EU, 2018

[14]

#### **Chapter Two: Flame Retardants**

Flame retardants are defined as chemical agents that can withstand direct flame by stopping flame entry into the material, controlling its spread, and even extinguishing utterly. These materials can be added during or after the products' fabrication for burning protection. The development of flame retardants allowed the safe usage of fabrics that cause flammable behaviour by reducing flammability and reduce the rate of burning. The compounds of phosphorus, nitrogen, chlorine, bromine, boron, and antimony are ones of the most widely used for flame retarding [3,20-26].

#### **2.1 Historical Overview of Flame Retardants**

Many materials with flame retardant properties have been known for many centuries, as shown in Table 2.1. Where about 3000 years ago, the ancient Egyptians were soaking grass and reed in seawater before they used it for roofing, so when these grass and reed dry, the mineral salts will crystallize and act as a fire retardant. The Egyptians and Chinese also used alum and vinegar to paint timbers in temples to protect them from the fire [27-30]. Although the ancient civilizations did not have the necessary equipment to analyze these materials' components, they pay attention to the nature of these substances acting as retardants. The discovery of the flame retardancy properties of these materials was through coincidence. Still, they inevitably conducted some practical experiments, even if primitive, to prove these materials' effectiveness in fire protection, in addition to searching for other materials with the same properties. Indeed, this led to the development of testing devices to detect these materials [31].

With the development of human lifestyle, the needs to discover new materials that reduce the risk of fires have increased. This calls for relying on a scientific and practical basis and not to depend on chance only. So the first practical experiments to reduce fire risk began to appear. As a scientific procedure recorded, the first fire testing experiments can be traced to London's 1790s done by the Associated Architects. There was Quantitative work in Germany beginning in the 1880s, and in the U.S. and England in the 1890s. The growing interest in these tests led to establishing unified test standards in the early twentieth century. Where the first standard about fire testing methods was ASTM C19 (later called E 199) [31,34-37].

Material	Used by	Date
Potassium Aluminium Sulphate (Alum)	The Egyptians have used Alum and Vinegar to reduce wood flammability	450 B.C.
Vinegar	The Egyptians and Chinese used painted timbers by vinegar to increase their resistance to burning	360 B.C.
Alum, Vinegar, and clay	The Roman army painted the wooden siege towers with alum, vinegar, and clay to protect them from burning when they besieged Piraeus	87-86 B.C.
Clay-Gypsum Mixture	Had been used by Nicola Sabbatini in France for reducing painted canvas inflammation at Parisian theatres	1638
Alum- Ferrous Sulfate-Borax Mixture	It was discovered by Obadiah Wyld and used in Britain for preventing paper, linen, canvas, & c., from flaming or retaining fire, & c. Wyld received the first patent for fire retardants No.551 [33]	1735
Potassium Aluminium Sulphate (Alum)	Used by the French brothers Montgolfier to reduce flammability of hot air balloons	1783
(NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> - NH <sub>4</sub> Cl - Borax Mixture	Used by the French chemist Gay- Lussac for linen and hemp fabrics [34]	1821

Table 2.1. A historical overview for early use of flame retardants [28,29,30,32]

# **2.2 Categorization of Flame Retardants**

Flame retardants are typically categorized into four major categories: Inorganic FRs; Phosphorus-containing FRs; Nitrogen-containing FRs; and Halogenated organic.

#### 2.2.1 Inorganic Flame Retardants

The most significant types of this category are antimony trioxide containing halogen, magnesium hydroxide, zinc borate, aluminum hydroxide, and zinc sulfide. If this category of flame retardant is exposed to heat, it does not evaporate. Instead, it decomposes and released non-flammable gases, such as water vapour, carbon dioxide, sulfur dioxide, hydrogen chloride, and other gases. Most of these compounds produce endothermic reactions. These flame retardants' mechanism of action depends on its disintegration at high temperatures and causing the release of non-flammable gases, which minimize the mixture of flammable gases. Then, it separates the plastic's surface by forming a glassy protective layer on the surface of the plastic that prevents oxygen and heat access [5,38-43].

#### 2.2.2 Phosphorus-Containing Flame Retardants

This category typically includes phosphate esters, red phosphorus, ammonium polyphosphates, and ammonium orthophosphates. Its principle of action is based on its oxidation during combustion to phosphorus oxide, which converted into phosphoric acid when interacting with water. This acid induces the release of water and removes it from the substrate layer of the thermal decomposing material, which contributes to its decomposition and thereby increases the formation of carbonaceous waste and decreases the emission of combustible gases [44-47].

#### **2.2.3 Nitrogen-Containing Flame Retardants**

Nitrogen-containing flame retardants: Often referred to as organic flame retardants. Melamine and its derivatives are the essential compounds in this category. These retardants' principle of action depends on the formation of an insulating surface layer by gases released from these retardants during combustion cause the material to swell [48-53].

#### 2.2.4 Halogenated Organic Flame Retardants

This category contains primary bromine and chlorine in particular. Its principle working action depends on chemical interference with the root chain mechanism,

which occurs in the gaseous phase during combustion. Halogen flame retardants eliminate the high-energy hydrogen and hydroxide generated during the combustion process by combining them, so the flame is poisoned by the halogen radicals released during combustion [5,6,54-56].

#### **2.3 Classification of Flame Retardants**

Flame retardants can be classified into three primary groups, depending on how they are applied to the polymer, and these two groups are: Additive FRs; Reactive FRs.; and Additive- Reactive FRs

#### 2.3.1 Additive Flame Retardants

This type is used for thermoplastics in particular. Additive flame retardants can be added to plastics in three ways: (1) before polymerization, (2) during the process, or (3) after polymerization, and it is the most common way to add them. In addition to its direct action as flame retardants, it can be a plasticizer if they are compatible with the plastic or as fillers if they aren't compatible with it. The main disadvantage of these retardants, is their instability, where they sometimes can be volatile or even bled from the plastic, especially from the layers near the surface, causing plastic to lose its ability to resist burning, which is very dangerous because this state can only be realized when combustion occurs [57-59].

#### 2.3.2 Reactive Flame Retardants

This type of flame retardant is binding to the polymer molecule with the other components. This chemical bonding prevents it from evaporating and bleeding from the polymer over time. It happens with additive flame retardants, enabling the polymer to maintain flame retardant properties as long as possible. Although they are chemically binding to the polymer molecules, they have no plasticizing effect and are non-affecting the polymer's thermal stability. The practical and widespread use of reactive flame retardants is with thermosets [56-59].

#### 2.3.3 Additive- Reactive Flame Retardants

Several materials are not classified as stand-alone flame retardants, which will often work as fillers if used alone. Still, they have a special synergistic effect if they are added to other retardants, where the effectiveness and efficiency of these retardants increase to resist fire. An example of such materials is antimony compounds, especially antimony trioxide. The main purpose of this combination is to reduce the cost and, as mentioned, increase the effectiveness of the primary flame retardant [5,57,58,60,61].

#### 2.4 Working Mechanism of Flame Retardants

The method of slowing or even stopping the flame depends on the nature of the flame retardant, as the flame retardant can act chemically or physically in the solid, liquid, and gas state, where the flame retardant is interpenetrating with the combustion process during the various stages of this process, i.e., heating, decomposition, ignition, or flame propagation [5,62,63]. In general, there are two standard methods of flame retardation. The first method is based on preventing oxygen from accessing the flame area by generating non-combustible gases, where these gases can poison and extinguish the flame with free radicals. The second method is based on the thermal flame theory, which states that flame retardants require thermal energy for decomposition, leading to a decrease in the material's surface temperature to a temperature lower than its burning point, and the combustion breaks down [64].

#### 2.4.1 Physical Mode

This working mode can be achieved in three ways [62,65,66]:

#### 2.4.1.1 Cooling

Additives cause endothermic processes that cool the substrate of the material to a temperature lower than the level of combustion. An example of flame retardants behaving like this is aluminum hydroxide.

#### 2.4.1.2 Formation of Insulation Layer

The insulating semi-glass layer is created by a flame retardant that expels the oxygen needed to begin the combustion process, preventing heat transfer. Inorganic phosphorous compounds and boron are behaving like this mode.

#### 2.4.1.3 Dilution

The incorporation of inert materials (fillers) and additives that release inert gases after their thermal decomposition dilute the fuel in both the solid and gaseous states in such a way that the minimum ignition limits for the gas mixture are not exceeded. Phosphorous and boron compounds work this way.

#### 2.4.2 Chemical Mode

Can be achieved in two ways:

#### 2.4.2.1 Gaseous Phase Reaction

The free radical mechanism is stopped by the flame-retardant materials, causing eliminating the exothermic processes and, so the system will cool down. The percentage of flammable gases is reduced and even wholly prohibited as shown in Figure 2.1. The flame retardant which exhibits this behavior is halogen compounds [5,66].

#### 2.4.2.2 Solid Phase Reaction

A carbon film is formed on the surface of the polymer by the dehydrating action of flame retardant, forming double bonds in the polymer (see Figure 2.2). These double bonds will create a carbon film by cross-linking. An example of these retardants is phosphorous compounds. In the case of phosphorous compounds addition, their mode of action depends on substituting the hydroxyl and hydrogen radicals in the combustion cycle by low-potency radicals, eliminating their damage as shown in the equations below, which represents the combustion reaction (Chain reaction equations), and the hinderation reaction (Chain hinderation equations). This mechanism is similar to that of the halogen compounds. The change in the

combustion cycle's radical composition in the gaseous phase leads to flame suppression and reduced heat production, which cools the combustion zone. The combustion process activated several sequential reactions, which include: chemical chain-branching, chain-propagating, and chain-breaking reactions. These chemical processes help preserve the flame by changing the quantity, form, and mole ratio of the radicals present in the gas phase. Therefore, in order to change this state, Lower energy radicals are required to remove the unstable radicals of OH· and H·. Replacing the unstable OH· and H· radicals with less reactive and more stable radicals works to inhibit the combustion chain reaction and lead to cut this reaction. Thus the self-extinguishing process of the system will occur [5,67-69].

Chain reaction equations [69]:

$OH^{\cdot} + CO \rightarrow CO_2 + H^{\cdot}$	(1)
$CH_4 + O_2 \rightarrow CH_3^{\cdot} + H^{\cdot} + O_2$	(2)
$\mathrm{H}^{\cdot} + \mathrm{O}_2 \rightarrow \mathrm{OH}^{\cdot} + 0.5\mathrm{O}_2$	(3)

$$OH' + CH_4 \rightarrow H_2O + CH'_3 \tag{4}$$

- $CH_3^{\cdot} + O_2 \rightarrow CH_2O + HO^{\cdot}$ (5)
- $CH_2 0 + H0' \rightarrow CH0' + H_2 0 \tag{6}$
- $CHO' + O_2 \to CO' + H' + O_2$  (7)

Chain hinderation equations [69]:

$PO' + H' \rightarrow HPO$	(8)
$PO' + OH' \rightarrow HPO_2$	(9)
$HPO + H' \rightarrow H_2 + PO'$	(10)
$HPO + CH_3^{\cdot} \rightarrow H_2 + PO^{\cdot}$	(11)
$HPO_2^{\cdot} + H^{\cdot} \rightarrow H_2O + PO$	(12)
$HPO_2^{\cdot} + H^{\cdot} \rightarrow H_2 + PO_2$	(13)
$HPO_2^{\cdot} + OH^{\cdot} \rightarrow H_2O + PO_2$	(14)



Figure 2.1. Gaseous phase reaction



Figure 2.2. Solid phase reaction

## 2.5 Flammability and Combustibility

Many people think that flammability or ignitability and combustibility is similar in denoting the same characteristic. Still, the truth is that they are different, so I will explain what these two terms refer to in this paragraph. The flammability or ignitability is defined as a material's ability to catch fire (ignite), causing a fire,

combustion, or even an explosion if the material is unstable. Whereas combustibility is defined as how easily a material burns to cause a fire or combustion [70]. The main criterion by which materials are classified as flammable or combustible is the flash point, where flammable materials have a lower flash point than combustible materials. The flash point of flammable materials is less than 37.8 °C, while in the case of combustible materials; its value is higher than 37.8°C and less than 93.3°C [70-73]. Table 2.2 represents the flash-ignition and self-ignition temperatures for various polymers.

Polymer	Flash-ignition	Self-ignition
	Temperature, °C	temperature, °C
Poly(methyl methacrylate)	300	430
Polypropylene	320	350
Polyethylene	340	350
Polystyrene	350	490
Rigid Poly(vinyl chloride)	390	450
Plasticized Poly(vinyl chloride) (Insulation)	330	385
Plasticized Poly(vinyl chloride) (Fire resistant, low acid emission)	400	410
Poly(acrylonitrile)	480	560
Polyamide 6'6	490	530
Poly(tetrafluoroethylene)	560	580

Table 2.2. Flash and self ignition temperatures for various polymers [73,74]

### 2.6 Flame Retardants and the Environment

Most of conventional flame retardants and stabilizers for plastics contain heavy metals or other ingredients e.g., bromine being potentially harmful to the environment or health. The accumulation of flame retardants in soil, water (whether in rivers, lakes, groundwater), or even in the air leads to environmental pollution, which will lead to flame retardants transfer to organisms in that polluted environment, including humans. For example, in European countries, concentrations of flame retardants have been found in human milk and the bodies of birth cohorts (but their concentrations were lower than in the United States) and household dust. Concentrations of flame retardants were also found in the bodies of birds and their eggs [75-84]. Therefore, in light of these environmental challenges and responsibilities, most of these flame retardants must be reconsidered in terms of use and finding an environmentally friendly and sustainable alternative. Especially since countries have already started issuing laws prohibiting the use of certain types of flame retardants due to their severe damage to the environment after research has proven this [85-87]. Many of flame retardants currently in use are included in European Union regulation (EC) No. 1272/2008 and its amendments for materials classification, which have been classified as dangerous materials. So it has become imperative to search for safe alternatives to these materials [88]. There are heavy metal-free flame retardants (earth metal hydroxides), but it must be used in high concentrations (40- 60 phr), which in turn will reduce the mechanical properties and wear resistance of the plastic [75].

Therefore, there must be a precise harmony between environmentally friendly flame retardants and preserving the materials' properties. This matter requires more time and research for a complete shift from traditional flame retardants to those environmentally friendly [25,75, 88-90]. Certain recent flame retardants are now available to comply with the successful flammability tests regulations. Also, the interference of retardants with flame reaction chains will restrict the oxidation of the hydrocarbon. This interference will prevent the process of converting carbon monoxide to carbon dioxide, which causes highly volatile, very smoky fire effluents and rich in incomplete combustion products [91]. With the tendency to replace traditional flame retardants with environmentally friendly ones, the environmental conditions surrounding the product containing this type of retardants must be taken into account and the applications for which it is used. One study revealed that environmentally friendly retardants could be harmful when breaking down by heat and ultraviolet rays [92]. Therefore, it is necessary to use these retardants carefully. Obtaining the ideal flame retardant requires great research efforts that may not take as long as research in the past due to scientific research development. Whereas the chemical stability of environmentally friendly flame retardants in different conditions is of critical importance to increase safety level when using these retardants.

## **Chapter Three: Poly(vinyl chloride)**

#### **3.1** Characteristics of Poly(vinyl chloride)

Poly(vinyl chloride) or PVC for short is an essential and widely used plastic in many applications where it can be used as rigid or plasticized depending on the type of application. Poly(vinyl chloride) has a high molecular weight; therefore, many organic compounds do not affect it at average temperatures. Some chemical compounds can attack poly(vinyl chloride): chloro-hydrocarbons and certain esters [93-96]. Poly(vinyl chloride) is primarily a rigid polymer at low temperatures due to the firm, attractive forces between the molecules resulting from a small distance between the molecules. These distances begin to widen when poly(vinyl chloride) is heated, causing its structure to soften, but the softness quickly disappears when it cools. Thus, to preserve this softness in the poly(vinyl chloride) structure even at room temperature, the addition of plasticisers that prevent polymer molecules from approaching each other can keep polymer softness due to the vast distance between molecules[97]. The bonding mechanism of plasticiser-poly(vinyl chloride) shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1. Plasticiser-poly(vinyl chloride) bonding mechanism (Re-drawing depending on the reference [98])

When poly(vinyl chloride) is heated to the range temperatures between 170 and 180°C, the chlorine and hydrogen will be removed from the molecules, and the hydrogen chloride is released. The emergence of this decomposition will cause instability of molecules structure, which will lead to the removal of hydrogen chloride rapidly and significantly. Since poly(vinyl chloride) is heated to soften phase during processing, like extrusion or rolling, limiting the release of hydrogen chloride is one of the priorities that must be considered. This thing can only be done by stopping the decomposition or reducing its effects. So, the release of hydrogen chloride from poly(vinyl chloride) would be avoided by the presence of a stabilizer [99]. The main types of poly(vinyl chloride) stabilizers are listed in Table 3.1.

Stabiliser type	Principal metal	Metal content (%) packaging	In PVC formulation other	
Lead compounds	Lead	Not used	-	
Organotins	Tin	0.1-0.2	0.3-1.0	
Barium-Zinc compounds (only for plasticized applications)	Barium zinc	Not used	~0.1 <0.2	
Calcium-Zinc compounds	Calcium zinc	0.1 < 0.2	<0.5	

Table 3.1. Types of stabiliser added to poly(vinyl chloride) [99]

Poly(vinyl chloride) can be produced in more than one state, so, the primary classification key of poly(vinyl chloride) is its elasticity, where it is classified as rigid or plasticized. The important thing is that changing poly(vinyl chloride) from rigid to plasticized state there's no need to change its chemical formula through polymerization but through additives only, which is not available in the majority of other polymers [100]. In general, poly(vinyl chloride) is considered not chemically reacted for both types. The rigid type is stiff, strong, and has significant chemical and UV resistance. It also has a reasonable machinability rate. Plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) has better tensile strength and flammability than rigid form [101,102]. Properties of plasticized and rigid poly(vinyl chloride) shown in Table 3.2.

#### DOI: 10.14750/ME.2021.039

Properties	Plasticized PVC	Rigid PVC			
Physical properties					
Density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	1.3 – 1.7	1.35 – 1.5			
Glass Transition Temperature, °C	-55	60 - 100			
Mechanical properties					
Young's Modulus, GPa	0.001 - 1.8	2.4 - 4			
Flexural Modulus, GPa	0.001 - 1.8	2.1 - 3.5			
Elongation at Break, %	100 - 400	25 - 80			
Service temperature					
Max. Continuous Service Temperature, °C	50 - 80	50-80			
Min. Continuous Service Temperature, °C	-405	-10 - 1			
Other properties					
Dielectric Strength, kV/mm	10-30	10-40			
Transparency, %	75 - 85	80			
Thermal Insulation (Thermal Conductivity) W/m.K	0.16	0.16			

Table 3.2. Properties of plasticized and rigid poly(vinyl chloride) [101]

# 3.2 Degradation of Poly(vinyl chloride)

It is known to everyone that one of the main disadvantages of poly(vinyl chloride) despite the many advantages which is the release of chlorine containing compounds (HCl) from its internal structure after exposure to high temperatures as shown in Figure 3.2, and this process is called dehydrochlorination. When poly(vinyl chloride) reaches this stage of releasing HCl, it actually begins to degrade, which is dangerous not only because it has started to lose its properties, but because degradation products "chlorine compounds" are toxic, which is a danger to human health and leads to environmental pollution although the poly(vinyl chloride) fires are not so huge to consider as an environmental disaster but it is a danger that can't be overlooked [103].



Figure 3.2. Mechanism of degradation for poly(vinyl chloride) [96]

The initiation of poly(vinyl chloride) degradation occurs at the defects created during the polymerization. The most common and important types of polymerization defects are: tertiary chlorine atoms resulting from branch formation during polymerization, and allylic chlorine atoms formed by termination of the polymerization reaction as shown in Figure 3.3 [104,105]. As mentioned, hydrogen chloride is released during the process, which will generate new defects associated with the existing defects arising mainly from polymerization. The releasing of HCl will continue in a zipper-like fashion when no stabilizer interferes to stop it. After forming HCl and conjugated double bonds (polyene sequences), a pale yellow color

appears when six to seven conjugated double bonds are produced. This pale yellow appearance can turn darker with a growing conjugation length, changing from red to brown and eventually to black [104-111].



Figure 3.3. Degradation of poly(vinyl chloride) due to heat or shearing at allylic and tertiary chlorine atoms (depending on the data of reference [106])

#### **3.3 Flammability Performance of Poly(vinyl chloride)**

The flammability efficiency and thermal resistance of poly(vinyl chloride) are considered the essential criteria in choosing this polymer for such applications that required high thermal resistance. The high percentage of chlorine (56.8%) makes poly(vinyl chloride) intrinsically fire-resistant, even with no flame retardants as shown in Figure 3.4 and Table 3.3 [112-115]. However, for many applications, especially thermal ones, the poly(vinyl chloride)'s natural flame retardancy is unreliable, because polyvinylchloride loses a high percentage of chlorine while combustion. As an example, it has been found that the plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) will reduce about 20% chlorine by mass during burning [91].



Figure 3.4. Flammability ranges of non metallic materials including poly(vinyl chloride) (Re-drawing depending on results of reference [112])

Material	L.O.I, %
Chlorinated PVC	60-70
Rigid PVC	45-49
Polycarbonate	26-28
Nylon 6, 6	24-29
ABS	18.3-18.8
cellulose	19.0
Polyacrylonitrile	18.0
Polystyrene	17.6
Polyethylene & Polypropylene	17.4
Polymethylmethacrylate	17.4

Table 3.3: Limited oxygen indices of unmodified thermoplastics [113]

The high chlorine content makes poly(vinyl chloride) compatible with a wide variety of flame retardants. Some flame retardants additives such as antimony trioxide have a synergistic action with chlorine to create free-radical scavengers that serve as flame poisons. In contrast, some flame retardants and smoke suppressants convert the products of the degradation process of poly(vinyl chloride) into more aliphatic and less aromatic products in the fire. Also, some smoke suppressant additives convert aromatic products from poly(vinyl chloride) degradation into char instead of smoke. Comparative combustion heat of methane gas, PVC, and some other thermoplastics is shown in Table 3.4 [112-114]. As is evident from this table, the low heat of combustion of poly(vinyl chloride) qualifies it to be among the best options for industrialists to meet flame resistance requirements and prevent its spread [106].

Material	$\Delta H_c, kJ/g$
Methane Gas	50.0
Polyethylene, PE	43.3
Polypropylene, PP	43.3
Polystyrene, PS	39.9
Polyacrylonitrile, PAN	30.8
Polycarbonate	29.7
Nylon 6, 6	29.6
Polymethylmethacrylate	24.9
Polyvinylchloride, PVC	16.4

 Table 3.4. Heat of combustion for thermoplastics [113]

#### **3.4 Environmental Considerations**

Most of conventional flame retardants and stabilizers for poly(vinyl chloride) contain heavy metals or other ingredients e.g. bromine, being potentially harmful to the environment or health, although they increase the efficiency of the performance of poly(vinyl chloride) at high temperatures and make its structure more stable. So it must (as much as possible) that these stabilizers and other additives are environmentally friendly and at the same time have the ability to improve the thermal resistance of the poly(vinyl chloride) [75,103,116-118]. A significant effort has been made in recent years to develop new stabilization systems for the processing of poly(vinyl chloride), to get as far away as possible from using heavy metal-based stabilizers. Due to the toxicity of the lead and cadmium stabilizers, they

are now in limited use, but despite there are various alternatives now occupy the place of these stabilizers, such as calcium/zinc, organotin, and barium/zinc systems, but there are still disadvantages for the plasticized vinyl formulator. Therefore, a complete switch to environmentally friendly stabilizers needs more research in this field [119,120].

#### **3.5 Selection of Proper Processing Method**

Polymers in general, are known to be highly sensitive to heat due to their low melting points; therefore, any change in temperature will change its structural phases, and thus will change its qualities and properties. This change depends on the thermal range and the time period of heat exposure. Poly(vinyl chloride) is one of these thermally sensitive polymers; where its properties depending on the operational history so it is very sensitive to any change or irregularity in processing temperature. Therefore, the processing method must be carefully selected. Every processing method has its characteristics and limitations, which are affected by the conditions surrounding the process. These conditions control the processing method's efficiency to achieve an individual work of high quality compared to other processes [121-125].

There are several critical parameters (constant or variable) that control any of the forming process. These parameters are: temperature, time, speed and pressure. These critical parameters are closely related, and directly affect the properties of the product, the economic feasibility of the forming process, and its technical relevance to the formed material, in order to obtain the best properties, whether mechanical, thermal, chemical, etc. In addition to the above parameters, there is a parameter of no less importance, which is the human factor (worker), and the extent of its intervention in the forming process, and whether the process depends on it completely or not. Therefore, the worker efficiency will be also a critical parameter the properties of the final product. All these parameters must be taken into consideration in order for the forming process to be successful [121]. In the forming processes of polymers, high temperatures are required, in order to increase their

flowability and reduce the viscosity, thus, the shear stress will decrease. In addition, the forming processes differ in terms of the homogeneous thermal distribution on all formed area, and the stability of the heating and not affected by the surrounding environment, which improves the quality of the product and reduces the deformations resulting from different temperatures between the parts of the same product [121].

The poly(vinyl chloride) can be processed by rolling or extrusion, where the regularity of temperature is different due to the machine specifications. In the rolling process, the heat distribution is not symmetrical and varies along the length of the roll, where the temperature of the roll will be the highest value in the centre and decreases in the direction of the sides, which negatively affects the properties and structure of the polymer processed in this method (see Figure 3.5, a). On the other hand, the heat is distributed regularly along the extruder barrel in the extrusion process, thus providing a balanced and suitable thermal environment in which the polymer can retain its properties during the processing resulting inhomogeneous products in terms of structure and properties, as shown in Figure 3.5, b [121-128].



Figure 3.5. Heat distribution in (a) Rolling, (b) Screw-extrusion [121,124]

# **Chapter Four: Oxydtron**

#### 4.1 What is Oxydtron?

Oxydtron is one of the non-traditional polymer additive materials that I used in this study. According to its technical data sheet Oxydtron is a nano cement mineral admixture which is added to the concrete mixture to increase the water leakage-, freezing-, heat- and acid /alkali resistance. Those who hear about Oxydtron for the first time assume it to contain nano particles as indicated by the term "nano cement" but this is not true because Oxydtron is a micro particles powder and just the particle's coating layer is consisting modifier materials of nano size (10 to 100 nm); which gives this material special characteristics in addition to its low cost.

#### 4.2 Chemical Composition of Oxydtron

Nano cement in general, and Oxydtron is one of its types containing many nano oxides and nano carbides compounds, like  $Al_2O_3$ ;  $TiO_2$ ;  $Fe_2O_3$ ;  $CaCO_3$  and nanotubes or fiber, and copolymers such as styrene-butadiene; Vinyl acetate. The percentage of the copolymer is 10-20%. These ingredients depend on the type of nano cement [75,129]. The chemical composition of the Oxydtron used in this study is shown in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1. The chemical and granular composition of Oxydtron [75]

### 4.3 Appearance of Oxydtron

Oxydtron has a dark gray appearance due to contaminated silicate raw materials because its primary use is an additive to cement mixtures, as mentioned. The grey color and dark appearance of Oxydtron are not considered a limitation for use in the industry because most of the present additives change the appearance of the poly(vinyl chloride). Also, when comparing the dark appearance of the poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron with its high performance and environmental friendly effect, the demand for it will be high and growing. In my opinion, the producing company of Oxydtron could change the production technology by using less contaminated silicate raw materials, but it depends on the company's intention.

# 4.4 The Uses of Oxydtron

Unfortunately, all that I found through my search for Oxydtron references are using this material to improve concrete properties. I did not find anyone who used this nanocement as an additive for polymers, especially in enhancing flame retardation and thermal stability. For further clarification, many nano admixtures are added to the concrete mixture along with basic components (cement, water, aggregates) which can be added during the mixing process of the basic components in order to improve the properties of the concrete mixture. The improved properties vary according to the type of the admixture, where there are admixtures that improve the workability of the concrete and its durability, accelerate or slow the cohesion of concrete, another admixture type works on increasing the wear resistance of the concrete surface, and there are admixtures minimizing the amount of water needed ...etc. Oxydtron contains high-temperature oxides and carbonates that make it one of the alternative options for conventional flame retardants used today [75,129,131-133].

# **Chapter Five:** Literature Survey

Poly(vinyl chloride) has a long and eventful history with many additives, starting with additives that transformed it into poly form polymers through additives that made it a flexible material, and additives that raised its heat and fire resistance value. As for the future perspective, the additives aim to reduce the risk of the poly(vinyl chloride) upon ignition by combining the additives with the combustion products, which are hydrogen chloride, and making this polymer safer. Millions of published studies have been done to improve poly(vinyl chloride) properties, which cannot be summarized in a short paragraph, so I will have to contend by mentioning the historical pathway of additives that have improved the properties of this polymer.

#### **5.1 Traditional Additives**

- **1872:** Poly(vinyl chloride) was discovered by German chemist Eugen Baumann by accident after a long experimentation procedure, and published his work at Annals of chemistry and pharmacy [134].
- **1926:** American chemist Waldo Lonsbury Semon who worked for the B.F. Goodrich Company mixed some additives to PVC to eliminate chlorine in order to obtain a polymer that could bind rubber to metal. But instead, he discovered plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) [135].
- **1929:** I.G. Farben received a patent for using Amines as a stabilizer for poly(vinyl chloride) [136].
- **1933:** Waldo Lonsbury Semon was awarded a patent for the use of phosphate and phthalate compounds to create a flexible, adaptable PVC adhesive compositions. Waldo used white lead and sodium silicate as heat stabilizers [137].

- **1934:** Groff Frazier received first patent No. CA 346164 for using metal soaps as a stabilizer for poly(vinyl chloride) [138,137].
- **1937:** Marion C.Reed and Groff Frasier received first patent No. US 2075543Afor using Cadmium laurate and other soaps as a heat stabilizer for poly(vinyl chloride) [139].
- **1939:** Antimony oxide as a heat stabilizer was used by Arthur K. Doolittle according to the American parent No. US 2161026A [140]
- **1940:** Yngve Victor received first patent No. US 2219463A for using Alkyl or aryl tin or lead as a stabilizer for poly(vinyl chloride) [141].
- **1941:** Arthur K. Doolittle was used Sodium and calcium as heat stabilizer for poly(vinyl chloride) and received a patent No. US 2258243A [142].
- **1943:** Yngve Victor received patent No. US 2307090A for using Organo lead compounds as a stabilizer for poly(vinyl chloride) [143].
- **1966:** Robert A Buckley and Russo Nadine used a mixture of calcium salt, zinc salt, phosphorus compound, and sulphate or saccharin as a heat stabilizer for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) [144]
- **1976:** Robert G. Elcik prepared a fire retardant poly(vinyl chloride) film using a combination of magnesium hydroxide, zinc borate and antimony trioxide. The films extracted are especially useful in the preparation of vapor barrier constructions for use in the building trade [145].

#### **5.2 Environmentally Friendly Additives**

The discovery and use of new flame retardants and stabilizers containing heavy metals continued during the whole of the twentieth century, which led to environmental pollution, as this was not important to many manufacturers of these materials as much as it was essential to technological development and increased the financial resources of companies. But at the beginning of the twenty-first century, there was a revolution in environmental awareness all over the world, and calls increased to prevent the use of these environmentally harmful substances. Therefore, many studies have been published aimed to provide environmentally friendly alternatives.

- **2014:** Li Nie presented an alternative environmentally friendly technology that provides a stabilized halogenated polymer, such as chlorinated polyvinyl chloride (CPVC), composition. This alternative technology consists of zeolite, C6 to C12 and metal carboxylate, as a heat stabilizer [146].
- **2014:** Ugo Zucchelli presented an invention using Hypophosphites (aluminum hypophosphite, calcium hypophosphite, maganese hypophosphite, magnesium hypophosphite, zinc hypophosphite, barium hypophosphite) as a flame retardant for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) that can fully substitute antimony trioxide or any other antimony-based compound in the same formulations. Ugo Zucchelli received a patent No. WO 2014013284A1 for his work [147].
- **2017:** The effect of organic heat stabilizers such as uracil derivative (1,3-dimethyl-6-ami-nouracil; DAU) and eugenol has been investigated by Aran Asawakosinchai, Chanchira Jubsilp, Phattarin Mora, and Sarawut Rimdusit. The researchers compared the results of organic stabilizers with those made from lead, Ca/Zn. The results of thermal and mechanical properties of poly(vinyl chloride) with organic stabilizers addition were better than the

properties in case of commercial stabilizers for the same addition percentages [148].

- **2020:** The study of Korkusuz and Demir has been focused on a systematic comparison of the natural and non-toxic hydrothalcite thermal stabilization actions with high stabilizing performance organic stabilizers (mixed metal salts, maleimide and tri-nonyl phenyl phosphite). The results of the thermal tests showed a higher stabilizing performance of hydrotalcite compared to that of the thermal stabilizers in terms of the number of double bond conjugates, the concentration of polyene, the rate of formation of polyene and the change in color. The results are believed to contribute to the thermal stability of PVC by different stabilizers and blends, and an attempt has been made in this article to shed light on this issue [149].
- **2020:** The researchers Bing Wang, Yi-heng Lu, and Yu-wei Lu modified the nanosized titanium dioxide (NT), calcium–zinc (Ca-Zn)\*, dipentaerythritol (Dip) and organotin (OT) with butyl titanate (BT), coupling agent to synthesize a composite material and used as the strengthening agent for PVC. The results showed that, as a result of the BT relation which had a synergical impact on PVC, not only preserved the basic configuration of NT particles, the shaped PVC film also showed excellent thermal stability. They also noted that pentaerythritol has a stimulating effect on the release of  $CH_4$  from PVC, and that the peak intensity of  $CO_2$  is transferred to a high temperature zone, and there is no formation of hydroxyl or water, which means that the pathway of thermal degradation of PVC has changed and it is possible to inhibit the generation of aromatic hydrocarbons and dioxins [150].
## **Chapter Six: Knowledge Gap and Objectives**

This study introduces a new material, which does not contain heavy metals and at the same time an excellent stabilizer and flame retardant agent for poly(vinyl chloride), and has never been used in this field, this material is Oxydtron which is a nano-cement. Oxydtron was developed initially for use as additives with Portland cement to improve the properties of cement. The unexpected behavior of Oxydtron as a stabilizer qualifies it to be a substitute or at least a competitor to existing stabilizers. Many heavy metal-free materials are used now as stabilizers and flame retardants for poly(vinyl chloride) and other polymers, but never has been used as a material produced to be a building material before. Therefore, our attention has been focused on testing this interesting material to gain insight into all its thermal properties, especially since it does not have any database. Even the company that manufactures it does not have such data. After more than three years of work, testing, and analysing the results, this material has proven its efficiency and readiness to be a successful alternative for the traditional ones.

The objectives of our study can be summarized in the following points:

- 1. Preparing efficient alternative heavy metal free flame retardant comparable to the conventional stabilizers and flame retardants. At the same time, being environmentally friendly and with properties equivalent to traditional materials and could be better than it in many aspects in terms of engineering properties and not only at the environmental level.
- 2. Providing a database on the properties of this material because it is not available, where I have published many of the properties as articles and compared them with the properties of traditional ones.
- **3.** Making poly(vinyl chloride) significantly safer by using a unique heavy metalfree additive. Where the traditional materials currently used with poly(vinyl chloride), increasing health and environmental risks.
- **4.** Drawing the attention of researchers to such materials, and not only looking for chemical compounds as alternatives.

## **Chapter Seven: Experimental Procedure**

This section includes the materials that were used and their specifications, the methods for preparing the samples, as well as the thermal tests performed on them, the standards that were used in the preparation and testing of these samples. Finally, the selection of the proper processing method which gives the best product.

## 7.1 Materials

The percentages of following primary materials used in this study illustrated in Table 7.1. The description of these materials as follows:

- **1.** PVC suspension type S-5070 (under trademark Ongrovil<sup>®</sup>) produced and supplied by BorsodChemZrt., Hungary, with specifications shown in Table 7.2.
- 2. DOP (or DEHP), Bis(2-ethylhexyl- phthalate) plasticizer (ortho-structure) supplied by DEZA, a. s. CO., Valašské Meziříčí, Czech Republic. The specifications of this material is shown in Table 7.3.
- **3.** Calcium-Zinc-based stabilizer (under trademark Newstab-50), which supplied by Betaquímica CO., Barcelona, Spain, with general specifications illustrated in Table 7.4.
- Wax-E external lubricant (under trademark Licowax<sup>®</sup>E) supplied by Clariant International Ltd, Muttenz Switzerland, with general specifications shown in Table 7.5.
- 5. Oxydtron (type A) supplied by Bioekotech Hungary Kft. There is no official data available about Oxydtron specifications from the producer and supplier. Therefore, I will review the specifications of this material that I obtained through the tests that I have performed in later paragraphs mentions in the tests section.

#### DOI: 10.14750/ME.2021.039

Component type	Quantity	Unit
PVC suspension type S-5070	100	phr
DOP (or DEHP) plasticizer	70	phr
Newstab-50, Ca-Zn based stabilizer	1.5	phr
Wax E external lubricant	0.3	phr
Oxydtron	1, 3 and 5	wt.%

Table 7.1. Materials used and their ratios

Table 7.2. Specifications of PVC type S-5070 (Ongrovil®) [151]

Parameters		Value
K-value		69-71
Volatile content (max.), %		0.3
Apparent density, kg/m <sup>3</sup>		470-530
Partiala size distribution %	Above 0.250 mm (max.)	1
Farticle size distribution, 70	Below 0.063 mm (max.)	5
Plasticizer absorption, % (min.)		30
Fish-eyes, pcs/dm <sup>2</sup> (max.)		10
Number of impurities, pcs/9dm <sup>2</sup> (max.)		20
Residual vinyl-chloride content, mg/kg (max.)		1
Specific vol. resistance at 23°C, $\Omega$ x cm (min.)		$5 \times 10^{13}$
Glass transition temperature, °C		75-85
Density of melted solid PVC resin, g/cm <sup>3</sup>		1.41
Flow temperature, °C		140

Table 7.3. Specifications of Dioctyl Phthalate (DOP) plasticizer [152]

Parameters	Value
Melting temperature, °C	-50
Boiling temperature, °C	384
Flash point, °C	207
Flame point, °C	233
State at 20 °C	Viscous liquid

Table 7.4. Specifications of Newstab-50 stabilizer [153]

Properties	Value			
Viscosity at 20°C cps	Minimum	Maximum	Average	
viscosity at 20°C, cps	220	280	250	
Density at 20°C, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	0.89 0.99 0.94			
Ca content, %	0.81-0.83			
Zn content, %	0.64-0.66			
Appearance	White powder			

Characteristics	Value	Test method
Drop point, °C	80	DGF-M-III 3
Flash point, °C	160	DIN 51758
Viscosity, mPa·s	30	DGF-M-III 8 at 100°C
Density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	1.01-1,03	DIN 53479 at 20°C
Appearance	Light yellow flakes	QM-AA-634

Table 7.5. Specifications and general properties of Wax-E lubricant [154]

## 7.2 Selection of Processing Method

Before quantitative sample manufacturing, I initially manufactured several samples in various methods to know the best way to present a perfect product with optimal properties. I used rolling and extrusion for processing materials to compare the final product properties for both methods.

## 7.3 Mixing Procedure

There are two types of mixing processes used in this study: primary and secondary mixing as shown in Figure 7.1.

### 7.3.1 Primary Mixing Process

The entire primary mixing process takes about 40 minutes and is accomplished using high-speed fluid mixer type Mischtechnik MTI 10. All the raw materials illustrated in Table 9 (except Oxydtron) had been mixed together with this process to form a poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation mixture.. The primary mixing process is consists of three stages:

- 1. Initial Mixing: The mixing process starts at a speed of 600 rpm, wherein the beginning, the PVC powder (suspension type PVC homopolymer), Ca-Zn based stabilizer, and wax lubricant are mixed together for two minutes, then the DOP plasticizer is added to it and mixed all components for three minutes.
- **2.** Raising of Speed and Temperature: in this stage, the mixing speed increased to 2700 rpm. This speed increment causes the temperature of the mixture to rise

steadily from room temperature and reaching to 150 °C, due to the shearing of particles between the components. The mixture stays at 2700 rpm for about 15 minutes while the temperature rises to 150 °C. The stability of speed allows the plasticizer to penetrate PVC particles further to obtain a homogenized structure with optimum production characteristics.

**3.** Cooling of Mixture: In order to cool the mixture, the mixing speed is reduced to 600 rpm and stays at this steady speed for 20 minutes. During a constant speed period, the temperature of the mixture will drop below 45 °C. At the end of this stage, the temperature of the mixture reaches 30 °C.

## 7.3.2 Secondary Mixing Process

This process involves applying Oxydtron to the PVC basic formulation mixture produced by the primary mixing process with various weight fractures (1, 3, and 5wt.%). This new mixture is mixed by a small electrical mixer for one minute to uniformly dispersed and homogenized Oxydtron into the mixture.



Figure 7.1. Scheme of Mixing Procedure

# **7.4 Samples Preparation**

In all tests, four blends of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) had been made as shown in Table 7.6.

Sample No.	Content
Sample 1	Poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation
Sample 2	Poly(vinyl chloride) + 1wt.% Oxydtron
Sample 3	Poly(vinyl chloride) + 3wt.% Oxydtron
Sample 4	Poly(vinyl chloride) + 5wt.% Oxydtron

Table 7.6. Components of test samples

All samples have been prepared according to ISO standards, and all preparation steps have been completed at BorsodChem Zrt., Hungary as follows:

Static Heat Stability Samples: these samples were prepared by using laboratory roll mill type SCHWABENTHAN polymix 150 U, at 170°C temperature, time 5 min, rolling speeds 21 rpm (front roller) and 24 rpm (back roller). The samples produced as sheets with 1mm thickness as shown in Figure 7.2.



Figure 7.2. Samples of static heat stability test

- 2. Limiting Oxygen Index Samples (L.O.I): L.O.I samples were fabricated as a rod by using an extrusion machine type GÖTTFERT with extruder screw diameter of Ø 20 at 170 °C temperature and 60 rpm speed at uniform conditions (pressure, temperature, and compression). L.O.I samples are shown in Figure 7.3.
- **3.** Differential Scanning Calorimetry Test Samples (DSC): A 10 milligrams weight sample from poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron additives. These 10 milligrams have been cut from L.O.I test samples.
- 4. Color Change Test Samples: Samples of static heat stability test where used.



Figure 7.3. Samples for Limiting Oxygen Index test

**5.** Dynamic Mechanical Analysis Test Samples (DMA): The DMA test samples were a strips (see Figure 7.4) fabricated by using extrusion machine type GÖTTFERT at 170 °C temperature and 60 rpm speed at uniform conditions (pressure, temperature).



Figure 7.4. Samples of DMA test

- 6. Congo-Red Test Samples: the congo-red test samples were prepared by using twin-screw extrusion machine type SCHLOEMANN BT-50 as pellets with 3mm diameter and 2mm thickness shown in Figure 7.5 at uniform conditions, as listed in Table 7.7.
- **7.** Capillary Rheometry Analysis Samples: the samples were produced as pellets with the same procedure, dimensions, and conditions of congo-red test samples.
- 8. Dehydrochlorination Test Samples: pellets of poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron additives with the exact dimensions of congo-red test and capillary rheometry analysis and produced with the same extrusion machine, under the same conditions were used in this test.



Figure 7.5. Samples of congo-red, capillary rheometry, and dehydrochlorination

 Table 7.7. Processing conditions of congo-red, capillary rheometry, and

 dehydrochlorination test samples

Processing temperature, °C			Pressure har Speed row	Speed rpm	
Zone 1	Zone 2	Zone 3	Zone 4	Tressure, bar Speed, ipin	
125	130	135	140	100	60

## 7.5 The Tests

The tests were completed at BorsodChem Zrt. are: Static heat stability, L.O.I, congo-red, DSC, DMA, dehydrochlorination, capillary rheometry analysis, color change, FLIR analysis, and FTIR. The tests completed at the University of Miskolc are: SEM, Oxides analysis, and particle size distribution analysis. The devices used are periodically calibrated by the company and the university to provide maximum test accuracy.

## 7.5.1 Static Heat Stability Test

Static heat stability test (heat stability testing oven) has been completed by using a Stabilemetr PVC 03 device (heat stability testing oven method) found at BorsodChem Zrt., Hungary; Laboratory of Vinyl Technology and following EN ISO 305:2019 standard [155]. This test finished within 2 hrs at 190°C, where the samples move out of the device with velocity 2 mm/min. This test's principle is based on the gradual and sustained exposure of polymer strips at a constant temperature tunnel oven maintained at a constant temperature. The gradual color change occurring over time in the test samples (see Figure 7.6) provides an evaluation of the products' long-term thermal stability [156].



Figure 7.6. Heat stability testing oven (Stabilimetr device)

## 7.5.2 Limiting Oxygen Index Test

L.O.I test was done according to ISO 4589-2 standard [157] by using a Stanton Redcroft FTA flammability unit at BorsodChem Zrt., Hungary; Laboratory of Vinyl Technology. L.O.I unit shown in Figure 7.7. In L.O.I test; the poly(vinyl chloride) sample is placed into a glass cylinder opened from the top and connected from the bottom by the device's air tunnel. When the test begins, the device injects a mixture of oxygen and nitrogen gas into glass cylinder containing the poly(vinyl chloride) sample for developing and speeding up the ignition process. The time required to complete this test is 3 minutes, and if the burning sample extinguishes before this time, the test is repeated, where the percentage of oxygen is increased. However, if

the opposite thing happens, where the test is in its early stages, and the ignition continues and exceeds a period of 3 minutes, then in this case, the test is repeated with the reduction of the oxygen level. This adjusts the oxygen concentration until the sample supports combustion. The reported oxygen concentration is the volume percentage, mostly 0.1% O<sub>2</sub> repeatability. Downward flaming discharge can be deemed the safest case for a substance with L.O.I. of less than 21 percent. Still, materials with L.O.I. percentage exceed 21 percent also need to be considered flammable [150]. The limiting oxygen index can be determined by using the following formula:

$$L. 0.I = \frac{O_2}{O_2 + N_2} \times 100 \tag{15}$$

Where  $O_2$  and  $N_2$  represent the minimum concentrations of inflow oxygen and nitrogen, respectively.



Figure 7.7. Stanton Redcroft FTA flammability unit

#### 7.5.3 Congo-Red Test

Congo-red test: was done by using a Julabo MC-12 circulator oil bath at 200°C shown in Figure 7.8 according to ISO 182-1:1990(E) standard [159], and found also at BorsodChem Zrt., Hungary; Laboratory of Vinyl Technology. In congo-red test,

the poly(vinyl chloride) sample in particle form is placed into glass test tube with a quantity reached to 50mm. Then the glass tube is placed inside the device; and the poly(vinyl chloride) sample is completely immersed in the oil bath (50mm). The test begins at a uniform and stable temperature (200°C) as mentioned, until the color of the paper changes due to increased poly(vinyl chloride) degradation and HCl release, where the beginning and ending time of discoloration is recorded.



Figure 7.8. Julabo MC-12 circulator oil bath, and the test paper appears in orange and blue color

## 7.5.4 Differential Scanning Calorimetry Test (DSC)

The Mettler Toledo DSC823<sup>e</sup> instrument was used to complete the DSC test to measure the gelation or fusion grade (G.G) by following the ISO 11357-2 standard [160] and using a heating profile of 30 °C to 240 °C with a heating rate 20°C/min. The instrument found at BorsodChem Zrt., Hungary. DSC is used to quantify thermal effects, and analyze thermal processes in order to classify, recognize and simplify the comparison between different materials' thermal behaviors. The transition measurements such as crystallization, glass transition, and melting can be made by DSC. In addition to what has been mentioned, the chemical reactions likes specific heat capacity, heat history, purity analysis, and thermal curing are observable and can be analyzed [161]. Figure 7.9 represent the Mettler Toledo DSC823<sup>e</sup> instrument and data analysis software interface.





## 7.5.5 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis Test

This test was done according to ISO 6721-11:2012 standard [162] by using dynamic mechanical thermal analyser MK III manufactured by Rheometric Scientific, Inc. and found at BorsodChem Zrt., Hungary, used for testing the samples. The temperature range is -60°C to 120°C with heating rate 2°C per min and the test finished within 2 hrs. The DMA analyser shown in Figure 7.10.



Figure 7.10. Dynamic mechanical thermal analyser MK III

# 7.5.6 Dehydrochlorination Test

Two methods were used to calculate the dehydrochlorination rates as follows:

## 7.5.6.1 Standard Method

Dehydrochlorination rates have been measured by Metrohm 763 Thermomat (see Figure 7.11, a) found also at BorsodChem Zrt., Hungary. This test was carried out according to ISO 182-3:1993 standard [163] at three different temperatures, which are: 170 °C, 180 °C, and 190 °C. This method involves exposing the poly(vinyl chloride) samples inside device to high temperatures to measure the stability time (the time until poly(vinyl chloride) begins to release HCl) [164]. Stability time determined as time to 60  $\mu$ S/cm conductivity, which means about 0.9% conversion of dehydrochlorination. Time axis intercept is the induction time.



Figure 7.11. (a) Metrohm 763 Thermomat, and (b) determination data of dehydrochlorination

# 7.5.6.2 Novel Evaluation Method

This method was adopted in my thesis to plot dehydrochlorination data. I collected the data stored in the device database after performing each test (see Figure 7.11, b). Then I analyzed it by a program to get more even kinetic information from the dehydrochlorination tests. The method of analysis is as follows:

**a.** The conductivity can be converted to HCl concentration. The conversion function calculated from the Foxboro data table is the following:

$$lg(c) = -1.05788 + 0.9882 \times lg(k) + 0.003988 \times (lg(k))^2$$
(16)

Where: c: HCl concentration in mg/l.

k: Specific conductivity in  $\mu$ S/cm.

If the absorbent water quantity is known the HCl weight (mg) can also be calculated. The instrument is using 50 ml water, so the absorbed HCl is c/20.

b. If the exact mass of PVC in the sample is known, the dehydrochlorination curve can be converted to the conversion of degradation. Because from pure PVC 58.4% HCl is evolved during total degradation, the conversion is:

 $k = m_{HCl} / 0.584 \times m_{PVC}$ 

(17)

The four columns of the result files in the data conversion program are:

- 1. Time in seconds in steps given by the program (20 or 30 sec.).
- **2.** Interpolated conductivity in  $\mu$ S/cm.
- 3. HCl evolved in mg, not the concentration but in the 50ml water.
- 4. Conversion in percent (after inputting the PVC in mg for the program).

The difference between the standard method and the Novel method in calculating the dehydrochlorination rate is shown in Figure 7.12.



Figure 7.12. The standard method (a) is compared to the novel method (b) to calculate the dehydrochlorination rate

#### 7.5.7 Color Change Measurement

Datacolor spectraflash SF 300 spectrophotometer was used to analyze the color change for the samples of static heat stability test. The spectrophotometer is found at BorsodChem Zrt., Hungary. This test was done according to ISO 11664-1 standard [165]. This test's working principle depends on measuring the transmitting or reflecting percentage of the light for a specific wavelength within the ranges

(360-740 nm) in the visible spectrum. The Color recordings will appear as L\*A\*B\* coordinates [166]. Datacolor spectraflash SF 300 shown in Figure 7.13.



Figure 7.13. Datacolor spectraflash SF 300 and L\*A\*B\* coordinates

#### 7.5.8 Capillary Rheometry Analysis

This test was done according to ISO 11443:2014 standard [167] at different temperatures rang (160 °C, 170 °C, and 180 °C) and different dies lengths (15, 30, and 45mm) with (3mm) die hole diameter for all lengths. Laboratory extruder type Göttfert Extrusiometer G20 was used to complete this test with processing speed 60 rpm. Capillaries rheometer tests are often achieved by applying pressure above the capillary inlet. Therefore, an additional pressure drop at the entrance of the die hides the true pressure drop along the capillary, where the flowing material goes from a wide reservoir (the main cylinder or barrel) to a narrow capillary, possibly also generating turbulence. Assuming that the same extra pressure drop occurs with different capillary lengths (but maintaining a constant barrel and capillary diameter and inlet shape), the pressure reading can be corrected and the true pressure drop can be estimated much more accurately. The state called Bagley correction.

### 7.5.9 Scanning Electron Microscopy

SEM was used to analyze the chemical composition and structure analysis of Oxydtron as shown in Figure 7.14. Also SEM was used to analyze the chemical composition and structure analysis of heat affected zone (HAZ). This test was carried out using a Carl Zeiss EVO MA10 SEM at the institute of physical metallurgy, metal forming and nanotechnology, University of Miskolc, Hungary.



Figure 7.14. SEM- EDAX analysis for Oxydtron

## 7.5.10 Fourier Transform Infrared Analysis (FTIR)

FTIR analysis was completed by using A Shimadzu IRTracer-100 device found at BorsodChem Zrt., Hungary. The analysis of chemical compounds of the Oxydtron shown in Figure 7.15 and Table 7.8. There are many active groups in this analysis which represents aldehyde compounds, ketone, amines, polyamides, and alcohols or aromatic or phenolic compounds. All of these compounds can form double and tie triple bonds and aromatic rings with PVC causing a stronger material.





#### DOI: 10.14750/ME.2021.039

Wave number	Active group
$(3641.60) \text{ cm}^{-1}$	OH
$(2873.94) \text{ cm}^{-1}$	СН
$(2513.25) \text{ cm}^{-1}$	C-H
$(1994.40-1793.80) \text{ cm}^{-1}$	C = O
$(1618.28) \text{ cm}^{-1}$	$\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{C}$
$(1450.47) \text{ cm}^{-1}$	-CH <sub>2</sub>
$(1192.01-1105.21) \text{ cm}^{-1}$	C–O-H or C–O-R
$(931.62-659.66) \text{ cm}^{-1}$	= CH

Table 7.8. The IR active groups and positive numbers for Oxydtron powder

## 7.5.11 Oxides Analysis

During the experiments an axially viewed ICP-AES spectrometer, made by Varian Inc. was used. The results of the analysis are listed in Table 7.9. From this analysis we can see that Oxydtron consists of some mineral components such as calcium oxide, silicates and aluminates; so these components play important roles during the preparation processing of poly(vinyl chloride). ICP-OES spectrometer is at the institute of chemistry, University of Miskolc, Hungary.

Oxide	Ratio, wt%	Element	Ratio, wt%
Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	4.47	Al	2.37
CaO	58.0	Ca	41.4
Cr <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	0.006	Cr	0.004
Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	2.67	Fe	1.87
K <sub>2</sub> O	0.78	K	0.65
MgO	1.20	Mg	0.72
Mn <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	0.05	Mn	0.04
Na <sub>2</sub> O	0.31	Na	0.23
SO <sub>3</sub>	2.50	S	1.00
SiO <sub>2</sub>	21.44	Si	10.0
SrO	0.093	Sr	0.079
TiO <sub>2</sub>	0.274	Ti	0.164
ZnO	0.138	Zn	0.111

Table 7.9. ICP-OES chemical composition analysis of Oxydtron

## 7.5.12 Particle Size Distribution Analysis (PSD)

HORIBA LA-950V2 laser particle size analyzer was used for analyze particle size distribution gradient as shown in Figure 7.16.



Figure 7.16. Particle size distribution analysis for Oxydtron

# 7.5.13 FLIR Thermal Gradient Image Analysis

Thermal analysis for L.O.I extruded and rolled samples using a thermal imaging camera (FLIR Systems) to determine the thermal gradient before and after the addition of Oxydtron and the effect of these additions on the heat affected zone (HAZ). Image and object parameters of this analysis shown in Table 7.10.

Parameter	Description/ Value
Camera Model	FLIR SC660
Emissivity	0.5
Reflected apparent temperature	20 °C
Object distance	1.0 m

Table 7.10. Image and object parameters of FLIR analysis

## **Chapter Eight: Results and Discussion**

This section will review what we got from the results after completing the tests on plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron. And also my interpretation and analysis of these results.

### **8.1 Flame Retardancy Test**

The limiting oxygen index test results for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron processing by extrusion and rolling are shown in Figure 8.1. The best optimum L.O.I increment is obtained with extrusion samples because the operating conditions (temperature, pressure, and time) are controlled uniformly. These results prove that the L.O.I is a process-dependent property, and this is being confirmed for the first time [121]. From the first pair of bars in this figure, we can see that the poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation has a low L.O.I value (22.2% and 21.6%) for extrusion and rolling processing, respectively. Even though the flame resistance of poly(vinyl chloride) is considered high compared to other polymers, but this behavior is normal due to the low flame resistance of polymers in general, which is caused by the structure of these materials (especially organic) therefore it will ignite easily and rapidly when exposed to direct fire [6,126]. Therefore, the simple and optimum solution to improve the flame retarding of polymers at high temperatures by adding additives. These additives can be used as fillers or coating layers depending on the application for which the material is used [121,168].

This improvement in flame retardation can be clearly seen in the second pair of bars where the value of L.O.I of poly(vinyl chloride) was increased to (23.4% and 22.3%) for extrusion and rolling processing, respectively after adding 1% wt. Oxydtron. The flame retardation of poly(vinyl chloride) is increasingly rising with increasing of Oxydtron percentage additives, where we can note from the third pair of bars that L.O.I for poly(vinyl chloride) reached to (25.5% and 24.8%) after adding 3% Oxydtron; and the optimum L.O.I value was obtained by 5% Oxydtron addition (27.8% and 26.4%) as shown in fourth two bars; where the flame

retardation improvement rate reached to 25.22% (for extrusion) and 22.22% (for rolling) more than poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation.



Figure 8.1. Limiting oxygen index (L.O.I) test results for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron

This behavior of flame retarding can be explained by understanding the working mechanism of Oxydtron as flame retardant which does not depend on the changes that occur in its structure when exposed to high temperatures (as with conventional flame retardants) but depends on creating additional stabilizing synergistic action with the original stabilizer as were discovered that the Oxydtron is an excellent polymer stabilizer and proved by the thermal tests. This additional and unexpected stabilizing synergistic behavior is due to Oxydtron's composition which consists of many compounds such as calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) which is considered as a universal stabilizer for poly(vinyl chloride) and also silicon dioxide (SiO<sub>2</sub>) in addition to many other compounds. These oxides and carbonates will act as a synergist agent with the original stabilizer leading to increase the thermal stability of poly(vinyl chloride); where the trio system materials "Original stabilizer-Silicon dioxide-Calcium carbonate" will effectively form a physical barrier against degradation of poly(vinyl chloride) structure. On the other hand, calcium carbonate

is a flame retardant agent, so its presence within the unique structure of Oxydtron helps to increase the flame resistance of poly(vinyl chloride). This stabilizing mechanism is not achievable with traditional flame retardants, so without flame, it cannot act as a flame retardant, instead that these flame retardants will work only as fillers that can change the flame resistance of poly(vinyl chloride) slightly. Also, many of the oxides included in the composition of Oxydtron can interact and form other compounds that reduce the flame reactions and act as a stabilizer. The ability of the compound to dissociate and react depends on the combustion temperature.

Table 8.1 represents improvement percentage of L.O.I results for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron.

 Table 8.1. Improvement percentage of L.O.I results for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron

	PVC	PVC+1wt.%	PVC+3wt.%	PVC+wt.5%
		Oxydtron	Oxydtron	Oxydtron
	Extrusion			
L.O.I	22.2%	23.4%	25.5%	27.8%
Improvement percentage	-	5.5%	14.9%	25.23%
	Rolling			
L.O.I	21.6%	22.3%	24.8%	26.4%
Improvement percentage	-	3.24%	14.8%	17.6%

## 8.2 Static Heat Stability Test

The additional stabilizing synergistic action with the original stabilizer can be observed clearly from the results of the thermal stability test shown in Figure 8.2 which represent the behavior of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron under static heat stability test at 190°C. It can be seen from this figure below that the color of poly(vinyl chloride) will change very rapidly with different gradients from transparent to dark depending on the time period of exposure to heat. This change is very rapid because of the low thermal resistance of poly(vinyl chloride) compared with the other materials like metals and ceramics; where the color change started from the transparent appearance to pale yellow, and then turns yellowish orange, and then turn to yellowish red, then change the appearance to pale red, then to dark red, and then brown, until it becomes completely dark (black) at the end of the test [109,126,148,156]. In general, it is not possible to distinguish between all these chromatic gradients with human eyes only, so a spectrophotometer device was used for this purpose [148,9].



Figure 8.2. Static heat stability test at 190°C for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron (OX symbol)

When comparing the color gradation between the samples before and after Oxydtron additions we will note that static heat stability of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron better than poly(vinyl chloride) alone. And this means that the Oxydtron is a perfect stabilizer for poly(vinyl chloride) as we mentioned above; where the Oxydtron will decrease the tendency of poly(vinyl chloride) discoloration. Also using of Oxydtron as a filler will improve the thermal resistance of poly(vinyl chloride) and increase the efficiency of original stabilizer, it is like forming a kind of synergistic action between them, which is reflected in the reduction of the degradation process. The discoloration additives.

## 8.3 Color Change Measurement

Figure 8.3 shows the yellowing behavior  $(\Delta b^*)$  of poly(vinyl chloride) with different percentages of Oxydtron. From this figure we note that poly(vinyl chloride)'s tendency to yellowing is very high and it is a normal behavior due to low thermal stability at elevated temperatures for poly(vinyl chloride) and other polymers in general [170,171]. The yellowish change is increased by increasing the

period of exposure to heat until the yellowing degree starts to decrease and color gradients are shifted towards the darker appearance and then the color becomes completely black. At this point, it can be said that the total breakdown of poly(vinyl chloride) has occurred [172-174]. After adding Oxydtron to poly(vinyl chloride), the yellowing is greatly reduced and depends on the percentage of Oxydtron additive to reach a peak of 5% Oxydtron; in addition the transformation period to dark color has been extended. This means that poly(vinyl chloride)'s tendency to degrade is greatly reduced.



Figure 8.3. Detecting the yellowish changes of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron (OX) for static heat stability samples tested at 190°C

Figure 8.4 represents the lightness changes ( $\Delta L^*$ ) of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) as a function of Oxydtron additives. We can observe from this figure, the lightness appearance of poly(vinyl chloride) begins to deteriorate which can be seen from the sharp decline of the curve in a short time towards more darker appearance until becomes fully black by constantly exposed to high temperatures. This is considered as a normal behavior for poly(vinyl chloride) due to low thermal resistance [171]. But this state will be changed after adding Oxydtron, where the thermal resistance

of poly(vinyl chloride) will improve, enabling it to maintain a better light appearance for longer time at the same temperature range and period, where the lightness appearance decreases gradually and not sharply until an optimal lightness curve is obtained at 5% Oxydtron.



Figure 8.4. Lightness changes of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) as a function of Oxydtron (OX) additives for static heat stability samples tested at 190°C

## 8.4 Congo-Red Test

I have noticed from Figure 8.5 which represents the congo-red test for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron that the time required for beginning and ending of the color change process measured by this test is short; because the thermal stability of poly(vinyl chloride) is low [116,175]. But after adding Oxydtron the stability of poly(vinyl chloride) has been improved, where this behavior is the outcome of the synergistic action of Oxydtron with Newstab stabilizer which is calcium-zinc based stabilizer as mentioned and this synergistic action will increase the stability of poly(vinyl chloride) against discoloration and reduced the chlorine release. As a result for this behavior the time period for the sequence of the synergistic action of the sequence of th

color change for test paper in case of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron will be longer than plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) of basic formulation. This means the release of hydrochloric acid (HCl) has been reduced as a result of the thermal stability improvement of poly(vinyl chloride) structure, which will reduce the degradation rate as a final result. The optimum result obtained by congored test was with 5% Oxydtron addition where the time was 86.8% longer than poly(vinyl chloride) of basic formulation. Table 8.2 represents a summary of the improvements in discoloration period for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron.



Figure 8.5. Beginning and ending of discoloration in congo-red test for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron at 200°C

Table 8.2. Extended discoloration period for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride)
containing Oxydtron

Mada ni al	DVC	PVC+1%	PVC+3%	PVC+5%
Ivraterial	PVC	Oxydtron	Oxydtron	Oxydtron
Beginning of discoloration, min	17.25	24.73	29.33	32.23
Improvement percentage	-	43.33%	70.03%	86.8%

## **8.5** Differential Scanning Calorimetry Measurements (DSC)

Figure 30 represents the DSC measurements for extruded and rolled plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron in the same temperature range of 30°C-240°C. This test was used for investigating the gelation behavior before and after adding Oxydtron additives. From this figure, we note that there are differences between gelation grades (fusion degrees) and gelation temperatures for both processing methods, where the gelation grade and gelation temperature are more significant in the case of extrusion than rolling. From Figure 8.6, a, can be observe that Oxydtron shifted gelation temperature (fusion temperature) towards higher level than poly(vinyl chloride) of basic formulation, where the temperature has been rising to 201°C after 1wt.% Oxydtron addition instead 177°C in case of poly(vinyl chloride) alone; in the same time the gelation grade dropped from 78% for poly(vinyl chloride) to 74.7% for the same percentage and operation conditions of Oxydtron. Although of the increase in the percentage of Oxydtron additives, the temperature remains stable at 201°C with continued decrease of the gelation grade, where it dropped to 73.3% with 3wt.% Oxydtron and then reached a maximum reduction at 5wt.% Oxydtron with a value of 72.4% where the gelation grade was 8% less than poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation.

If we assumed that the chemical composition of Oxydtron, which including calcium compounds, has a role in this unusual behavior, and these compounds would reduce the gelation grade (as in the case of Ca-based stabilizers [176]), but why in the same time the gelation temperature has been increased?. So this will be an incomplete explanation. The closest explanation to reality is related to the segmental mobility of PVC. Since the ratio of PVC and plasticizer is constant, the Oxydtron is a completely inorganic material, so it does not take out plasticizer from the system. And due to glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ) changed (depending on DMA analysis results), the smallest particles of Oxydtron influenced the segmental mobility of PVC. And this might be because its high polarity slightly hindered the free rotation of ester groups.



Figure 8.6. Gelation behavior for (a) extruded, (b) rolled plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron measured by DSC at 30°C-240°C temperature range

The same behavior applies for rolled samples but being slightly unstable and not ideal as extruded samples, where the history of poly(vinyl chloride) affects the final product properties. It is clear from the Figure 30,b that the gelation temperature remains constant while the gelation grade falls, when adding 1wt.% Oxydtron. The drop of gelation grade will continue with increasing of Oxydtron percentage. However, when 5wt.% Oxydtron is added, the gelation temperature will rise higher than poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation. At this ratio, the rolled poly(vinyl chloride) behavior containing Oxydtron is similar to that of extruded ones. This difference in behaviors is due to the fact that the structure of poly(vinyl chloride) is subject to significant changes during the rolling process. It is initially rolled at

170°C into plates; these plates are then pressed to the desired thickness at 175°C. Therefore, the poly(vinyl chloride) structure is overstressed, resulting in early yields at a lower temperature than in the extruded product [103].

Summary of the correlation between gelation grades, gelation temperatures, and Oxydtron content processed with extrusion and rolling shown in Table 8.3.

PVC+1wt.% PVC+3wt.% PVC+wt.5% PVC Oxydtron Oxydtron Oxydtron Extrusion Gelation temperature, °C 177 201 201 201 73.3 Gelation grade, % 78 74.7 72.4 Rolling Gelation temperature, °C 173 173 166 174.5 73 Gelation grade, % 56 60.4 62

Table 8.3. Summary of the correlation between gelation grades, gelationtemperatures, and Oxydtron content at different processing methods

## 8.6 Dehydrochlorination Tests

### 8.6.1 Results of Novel Evaluation Method

The thermal degradation of poly(vinyl chloride) does not happen in one step, but actually, it is a sequential dehydrochlorination that leads to creating conjugated polyene sequences. This sequential process goes through three stages which are initiation, propagation, and termination [177]. At high temperatures, the structure of poly(vinyl chloride) becomes less stable leading to the release of hydrogen chloride (HCl) strongly, and as a result, the resistance of poly(vinyl chloride) starts to decrease as shown in Figure 8.7, which represents a dehydrochlorination test for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C respectively.

From the Figure 8.7, a we see that the HCl loss is very rapid and the slope of the curve is very sharp (high inclination). This is a normal behavior for poly(vinyl chloride) due to the low thermal resistance in high temperatures (for polymers), so,

at initiation stage of dehydrochlorination, the structural segments of poly(vinyl chloride) will release hydrogen chloride (HCl), and this cause these structural segments to turn into allylic chloride groups. This thermal resistance of poly(vinyl chloride) decreases more and more as the release of HCl increases where the structure of poly(vinyl chloride) is strongly deformed. When the first stage is not obstructed, the degradation will enter the second stage, propagation. In this stage, the allylic chloride groups will begin to elongate very rapidly and be converted into polyenes as the degradation process progresses [177].

The dehydrochlorination will reach to third stage which is termination, where the bonds between atoms begin to break down and huge amounts of chlorine-containing compounds are released and finally the material will be completely burnt [177,178]. This is observed from the high slope of the curve  $(134 \times 10^{-6} \,\% \,\text{s}^{-1})$  and at this point, the poly(vinyl chloride) reached the degree of total degradation. The time for break down at 170°C is (2.211 hr). The thermal resistance of the poly(vinyl chloride) decreases more, and chlorine-containing compounds loss becomes rough as the temperature increases furthermore to  $180^{\circ}$ C and  $190^{\circ}$ C.

This action can be seen in Figure 8.7, b, and c, where the curves (b) and (c) have very high slope  $(246 \times 10^{-6} \text{ }\% \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ and } 272 \times 10^{-6} \text{ }\% \text{ s}^{-1})$  respectively, and the time for to break down at temperatures 180°C, and 190°C are (1.144 hr. and 0.694 hr.) respectively. Table 8.4 represents a summary of the slopes values and time of dehydrochlorination test for poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation.

Temperature, °C	170	180	190
Slope, $10^{-6} \% s^{-1}$	134	246	272
DHC time, hr.	2.211	1.144	0.694

Table 8.4. Slopes and DHC time for poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation

The dehydrochlorination behavior of poly(vinyl chloride) will be changed after adding Oxydtron additives, where the structure of poly(vinyl chloride) show more stability at high temperatures as shown in Figure 8.8, which represents the dehydrochlorination test for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C respectively after adding 1wt.% of Oxydtron. The slope of the curve at 170°C (a) had been decreased from  $(134 \times 10^{-6} \text{ %s}^{-1})$  for poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation (Figure 8.8, a) to  $(73 \times 10^{-6} \text{ %s}^{-1})$  after Oxydtron addition. This means the poly(vinyl chloride) structure became more stable and the tendency to release HCl containing compounds has been decreased and the period of degradation extended from (2.211 hrs) before adding Oxydtron to (4.75 hrs) after Oxydtron additions. Even when the temperature rises, the plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) maintains its resistance, and this is evident by the Figure 8.8, b, c.

Where the value of the curves b and c reached  $(176 \times 10^{-6} \text{ %s}^{-1} \text{ and } 223 \times 10^{-6} \text{ %s}^{-1})$  respectively, at a time of (1.34 hr.) and (1.983 hr.) respectively, which is a significant improvement in the structure of the plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) after adding Oxydtron to it. From my point of view, and depending on the results I obtained, the Oxydtron will hinder the formation of allylic chloride groups, which will lead to the prevention of polyenes formation. This will delay the poly(vinyl chloride) entering the propagation stage, and thus the fire will be extinguished. A summary of the slopes values and time of dehydrochlorination test for poly(vinyl chloride) containing 1wt.% Oxydtron are shown in Table 8.5.

Material	Slope, $10^{-6} \% \text{ s}^{-1}$			DHC time, hour		
	170°C	180°C	190°C	170°C	180°C	190°C
PVC basic formulation	134	246	272	2.211	1.144	0.694
PVC+1wt.% Oxydtron	73	176	223	4.750	1.983	1.340

Table 8.5. Slopes and time of dehydrochlorination test for poly(vinyl chloride)containing 1wt.% Oxydtron test

When the weight fraction of Oxydtron additives increases to 3wt.%, the stability of thermal resistance of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) will rise, and this behavior can be illustrated by Figure 8.9, which represent the dehydrochlorination results of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C respectively. From the curve (a) at 170°C, we notice that the slope of the conversion rate curve will decrease, i.e., the degradation resistance has been

increased, wherein this case, the slope of conversion rate became  $(62 \times 10^{-6} \text{ %s}^{-1})$  with an increase in the total degradation time to (4.84 hrs.). And when the temperature increases to  $180^{\circ}$ C (curve (b)), the slope of conversion rate will reduce to  $(163 \times 10^{-6} \text{ %s}^{-1})$  and increasing the total degradation time to (2.133 hrs.). Even at the higher temperature (190°C), as the curve (c) indicates, the degradation rate can decrease, conversion rate became  $(155 \times 10^{-6} \text{ %s}^{-1})$ , and the degradation time has considerably increased to (1.533 hr.) compared to the previous addition.

A summary of the slopes values and time of dehydrochlorination test for poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron are shown in Table 8.6.

Table 8.6. Summary of the slopes and DHC time for poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron compared to the basic formulation and containing 1wt.% Oxydtron

Material	Slope, $10^{-6} \% s^{-1}$			DHC time, hour		
Witterful	170°C	180°C	190°C	170°C	180°C	190°C
PVC basic formulation	134	246	272	2.211	1.144	0.694
PVC+1wt.% Oxydtron	73	176	223	4.750	1.983	1.340
PVC+3wt.% Oxydtron	62	163	155	4.840	2.133	1.533

With the increasing proportion of Oxydtron to 5wt.%, the degradation resistance of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) will increase, as shown in Figure 8.10, which represent the dehydrochlorination results of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 5wt.% Oxydtron at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C respectively. It is clear from this figure that the curve tends to rise gradually with a low slope, which means that the rate of degradation has decreased, where at 170°C we can see that the slope of the conversion rate curve (a) became  $(53 \times 10^{-6} \text{ ws}^{-1})$  and the degradation time extended to (5.2 hrs.). And at 180°C, the slope of the curve (b) is  $(142 \times 10^{-6} \text{ ws}^{-1})$  and the degradation time was extended to (2.144 hrs.). When the test temperature rises to 190°C, the value of the conversion rate curve (c) will be  $(120 \times 10^{-6} \text{ ws}^{-1})$  and the value of degradation time will be its (1.710 hr.). The slopes values for all Oxydtron weight fractions are illustrated in Table 8.7. So, the optimum improvements of degradation rate obtained by 5wt.% of Oxydtron addition were

135.2% at 170°C, 88.4% at 180°C, and 146.4% at 190°C longer than poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation.

Material	Slope, $10^{-6} \% \mathrm{s}^{-1}$			DHC time, hour		
iviatoriar	170°C	180°C	190°C	170°C	180°C	190°C
PVC basic formulation	134	246	272	2.211	1.144	0.694
PVC+1wt.% Oxydtron	73	176	223	4.750	1.983	1.340
PVC+3wt.% Oxydtron	62	163	155	4.840	2.133	1.533
PVC+5wt.% Oxydtron	53	142	120	5.200	2.144	1.710

Table 8.7. Comparison of the correlation between slopes, DHC time, and Oxytron

content

Table 8.8 represents a summary of improvement percentage of DHC time for

plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron.

Table 8.8. Improvement percentage of DHC time for plasticized poly(vinylchloride) containing Oxydtron

	DVC	PVC+1wt.%	PVC+3wt.%	PVC+5wt.%			
	PVC	Oxydtron	Oxydtron	Oxydtron			
	At 170°C						
DHC time, hour	2.211	4.750	4.840	5.200			
Improvement percentage	-	114.8%	118.9%	135.2%			
	At 180°C						
DHC time, hour	1.144	1.983	2.133	2.144			
Improvement percentage	-	73.3%	86.5%	88.4%			
	At 190°C						
DHC time, hour	0.694	1.340	1.533	1.710			
Improvement percentage	-	93.1%	120.9%	146.4%			



Figure 8.7. Dehydrochlorination test for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation at (a) 170°C, (b) 180°C, and (c) 190°C respectively



Figure 8.8. Dehydrochlorination test of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 1wt.% Oxydtron at (a) 170°C, (b) 180°C, and (c) 190°C respectively



Figure 8.9. Dehydrochlorination test of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron at (a) 170°C, (b) 180°C, and (c) 190°C respectively



Figure 8.10. Dehydrochlorination test of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 5wt.% Oxydtron at (a) 170°C, (b) 180°C, and (c) 190°C respectively
#### 8.6.2 Results of Standard Method

In this section, the standard method's dehydrochlorination graphs, which depend on measuring the conductivity, have been illustrated. The main aim of including these figures is to make a practical comparison between it and the novel evaluation method adopted in this dissertation. Otherwise, the exact reasons of degradation that I mentioned previously apply to this method as well, and therefore I will not repeat them.

Figure 8.11 represents the conductivity of plasticized PVC basic formulation measured by standard method at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C, respectively. We noted from this figure that the induction time and stability time were short, which means that the thermal stability of poly(vinyl chloride) is significantly reduced at high temperatures [179,180]. As mentioned earlier, adding Oxydtron will improve the thermal resistance of poly(vinyl chloride). This is also evident in Figure 8.12, which represents the conductivity of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 1wt.% Oxydtron measured by standard method at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C respectively, where the synergistic action of Oxydtron increased the induction time and stability time.

When increasing the weight fraction of the Oxydtron additions to 3wt.% and 5wt.%, there will be a significant increase in the poly(vinyl chloride) conductivity, represented by the rise in the value of induction time and the stability time, as shown in Figure 8.13 and Figure 8.14, which represent conductivity of plasticized PVC containing 3wt.% and 5wt.% Oxydtron measured by standard method at (a) 170°C, (b) 180°C, and (c) 190°C respectively. This incremental is due to the growing synergistic action between the poly(vinyl chloride) and the Oxydtron.



Figure 8.11. Conductivity of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation measured by standard method at (a) 170°C, (b) 180°C, and (c) 190°C



Figure 8.12. Conductivity of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 1wt.% Oxydtron measured by standard method at (a) 170°C, (b) 180°C, and (c) 190°C



Figure 8.13. Conductivity of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron measured by standard method at (a) 170°C, (b) 180°C, and (c) 190°C



Figure 8.14. Conductivity of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 5wt.% Oxydtron measured by standard method at (a) 170°C, (b) 180°C, and (c) 190°C

Table 8.9 represents a summary of the induction time and stability time of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron, measured by standard method at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C, respectively.

•		,	*	
	PVC basic	PVC + 1wt.%	PVC + 3wt.%	PVC + 5wt.%
	formulation	Oxydtron	Oxydtron	Oxydtron
	At 170°C			
Induction time, hr.	1.72	3.39	4.03	4.62
Stability time, hr.	2.02	4.19	4.33	4.71
	At 180°C			
Induction time, hr.	0.81	1.25	1.51	1.64
Stability time, hr.	1.01	1.70	1.91	1.91
	At 190°C			
Induction time, hr.	0.45	0.97	1.20	1.25
Stability time, hr.	0.59	1.16	1.34	1.49

Table 8.9. Induction time and stability time of PVC containing Oxydtron measured by standard method at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C

# 8.7 Capillary Rheometry Analysis (Extrusiometery)

It is known that the inlet pressure drop ( $\Delta p$ ) can be measured practically by using capillaries that are of different lengths while maintaining a constant diameter [181,182]. Figure 8.15 represents the length correction of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation at speed 60 rpm, accomplished with three different capillaries length (15, 30, and 45 mm) have the same diameter (3 mm) and (L/D) were (5, 10, 15). And Table 8.10 represents Bagley correction and slope values of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation at the same three temperatures.

Table 8.10. Bagley correction and slope values of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C

Temperature, °C	160	170	180
Bagley Correction	8.35	8.00	7.28
Slope	3.52	3.00	2.49



Figure 8.15. Length or Bagley correction for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C respectively

As the plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) melt travels and is extruded from the greater diameter of the barrel to the smaller diameter of the capillary the excess pressure begins to drop due to extensional viscosity [183,184]. The pressure drop is proportional to the capillary length, where the pressure drop is more significant with the longer capillary. However, it is inversely proportional to the temperature as the higher the temperature, the lower the pressure drop. This condition is also similar to the Bagley correction, as shown in Table 8.10. The length correction will decrease with increasing the temperature because the poly(vinyl chloride) melt becomes less elastic at higher temperatures. Also we can observe from this figure that the extrapolation of the linear Bagley correction plots of poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation indicated a good fitting.

Figure 8.16 represents the length correction of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing (1wt.%) Oxydtron at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C respectively at speed 60 rpm. Table 8.11 represents the Bagley correction and slope values for poly(vinyl chloride) containing (1wt.%) Oxydtron at the same temperature and speed. From this figure and the table, we notice that the Bagley correction value has increased after adding Oxydtron. It is a fact that the shear stress is directly proportional to the

pressure drop [185-187], therefore, the shear stress values in the case of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 1wt.% Oxydtron will be higher than poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation.



Figure 8.16. Length or Bagley correction for of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 1wt.% Oxydtron at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C respectively

Table 8.11. Bagley correction and slope values of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 1wt.% Oxydtron at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C

Temperature, °C	160	170	180
Bagley Correction	9.10	9.07	8.90
Slope	3.64	3.04	2.38

Still, the higher correction values show higher melt elasticity, and it can be evident that the length correction could be the measure of melt elasticity. For that, I didn't find any reference. Also, through Figure 8.16 we observe that the fitting will be much better, and the slope values are higher than in poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation where the particles will increase the shear stress because it an effect filler in terms of mechanical properties. We also found that the plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron are less sticky to the exit mold hole, and this will happen to the extrusion barrel, which will reduce the viscosity of the melt. With an increase in the weight fraction of Oxydtron to 3wt.%, the improvement of length correction increases, which is what we can see in Figure 8.17, which represent the Bagley correction for of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron at 160°C, 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C respectively. The Bagley correction and slope values for poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron at the same temperature and speed are represented in Table 8.12.



Figure 8.17. Length or Bagley correction for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C respectively

Table 8.12. Bagley correction and slope values of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C

Temperature, °C	160	170	180
Bagley Correction	9.44	9.31	9.17
Slope	3.60	2.93	2.34

There has also been an improvement in the drop in pressure, which means that the melt's elasticity has improved further, as explained earlier. Although the length correction continues to decrease with increasing temperatures (which is normal), it maintains higher accuracy levels than the poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation or containing 1wt.% Oxydtron. This is possibly the key reason why Oxydtron is so successful because of this additive's role in counteracting the segmental movement,

and the polymer structure will consist of liquid-like molecules that increased the elasticity. The perfect results were achieved in the length correction enhancement by applying 5% Oxydtron, which can be seen in Figure 8.18, which displays the Bagley correction for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 5% Oxydtron at 160°C, 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C respectively, and in Table 8.13. The Oxydtron continues to sustain a high degree of length correction as the additional percentage increases to 5wt.%.



Figure 8.18. Length or Bagley correction for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 5wt.% Oxydtron at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C respectively

Table 8.13. Bagley correction and slope values of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 5wt.% Oxydtron at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C

Temperature, °C	160	170	180
Bagley Correction	9.57	9.45	9.26
Slope	3.62	2.92	2.31

Also, we can see from Figure 8.19, which represents Bagley correction as a function of Oxydtron weight fraction that the Bagley correction increases with increasing of Oxydtron addition. Even 1wt.% of Oxydtron significantly increases the Bagley correction, and adding further Oxydtron, the correction continues to rise. That means the additive increased the melt elasticity. The elasticity of poly(vinyl chloride) melt decreases by increasing temperature, and the viscous flow becomes dominant. Because the Bagley correction represents the energy being necessary to alter the flow geometry, the Bagley correction of the plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) decreases by increasing temperature. But this drop in Bagley correction will be less in the presence of Oxydtron, as shown in Figure 8.20 which represents Bagley correction as a function of processing temperature.



Figure 8.19. Bagley correction as a function of Oxydtron wt.% at 160°C, 170°C, and 180°C respectively



Figure 8.20. Bagley correction as a function of processing temperature

### 8.8 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA)

From Figure 8.21, which represent the dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA) for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron, we can note that the Oxydtron additives increase the glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ), where the glass transition temperature shifts to higher temperatures rising from (-3.26 °C) in case of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation to (0.30 °C) when 1% of Oxydtron has been added and continues to rise to (3.50 °C) and (4.66 °C) when added 3% and 5% of Oxydtron respectively.

Clearly, there is an interaction between poly(vinyl chloride) and Oxydtron particles, which causes the reduction of the kinetic energy of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride), and reducing the segmental movement as mentioned, which probably prevents the molecules from assembling in crystalline systems, so the relaxation time of this movement increases. So the polymer will consist of long physically crosslinked liquid-like molecules [188].



Figure 8.21. Dynamic mechanical analysis for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron

From Figure 8.21 we can note that the frequency dependence of the glass transition is very well visible. So, the relaxation time for this process can be calculated from the following equation:

$$\tau = 1/\omega \tag{18}$$

Where:

```
\tau: the relaxation time.
```

 $\omega$ : the angular frequency.

Figure 8.22 represents the relaxation time for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron, calculated based on the temperature test data with temperatures range -20°C, -10°C, and 0°C. Evidently,  $\tau$  (T) (relaxation time at T temperature) is independent of frequency; the temperature of maxima is shifted to higher temperatures by increasing frequency because shorter relaxation time appears at higher temperature.



Figure 8.22. The relaxation time for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron as a function of temperature

Also, we can see that the relative increase of relaxation time is almost linear by Oxydtron content as shown in Figure 8.23, and at 5wt.% Oxydtron reached to 12 times (12.458) more than poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation. The relative increase is the same at different temperatures.



Figure 8.23. The relative relaxation time as a function of Oxydtron content

# 8.9 Heat Affected Zone (HAZ) Analysis

#### **8.9.1 FLIR Thermal Gradient Analysis**

The structure of poly(vinyl chloride) will begin to release chlorine-containing compounds in the form of HCl from its internal structure at elevated temperatures, i.e., it begins to degrade in these temperatures. The structure of poly(vinyl chloride) will lose HCl not just from burnt layers which directly exposed to fire, but this loss of chlorine-containing compounds extends to the under layers far from the combustion zone, which I called heat affected zone (HAZ), as shown in Figure 8.24. This behavior is due to the dehydrochlorination of poly(vinyl chloride). Through Figure 8.25,a we notice that the heat affected zone is wide in poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation, which is evidence of its low thermal and flame resistance and its rapid degradation at high temperatures of heating or combustion. The actual change in this critical zone begins after the addition of 1wt.% Oxydtron, as shown in Figure

8.25,b. The FLIR imaging test showed the beginning of the receding of the thermal effect in this zone than before adding the Oxydtron, leading to an increase in the thermal stability of the poly(vinyl chloride). The HAZ recedes further with the rise in the weight fraction of Oxydtron to 3wt.% and 5wt.% as shown in Figure 8.25,c, and d, resulting in increased resistance and stability of the poly(vinyl chloride) at such high temperatures, which reduces the degradation risk.



Figure 8.24. FLIR thermal gradient image for heat affected zone (HAZ) [3]



Figure 8.25. FLIR analysis for HAZ after L.O.I test in (a) PVC basic formulation,(b) PVC+1wt.% Oxydtron, (c) PVC+3wt.% Oxydtron, and (d) PVC+5wt.%Oxydtron

Also, I found that when re-testing the same sample again after cutting the burned area, the under layers have been ignited faster, and the HAZ area is wider, as shown in Figure 8.26. This behavior was dissimilar to the original sample tested for the first time, which means the heat affected layer has low flame resistance due to less chlorine [3].



Figure 26. FLIR for extruded plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation HAZ when (a) testing for the first time, (b) re-testing after cutting the burnt layer

# **8.9.2 Scanning Electron Microscopy Analysis**

The images obtained from SEM for plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation indicate that the chlorine percentage decreased accompanied by an increase in carbon percentage after the L.O.I test, as compared to the poly(vinyl chloride) SEM images before and after this test, as seen in Figure 8.27 and Figure 8.28 which represents the SEM - energy dispersive X-ray microanalysis for unburned and burned plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation respectively. This critical condition will be modified, and the resistance of poly(vinyl chloride) to ignition will improve following the Oxydtron additions as shown in Figure 8.29, 30, and 31 respectively, where the percentage of chlorine in the poly(vinyl chloride) composition has been maintained within adequate levels (if not constant).

In contrast, the carbon content remains in the poly(vinyl chloride) structure within the acceptable level because the reactions that generated CO and converted to  $CO_2$ have been reduced, the flame reactions were inhibited due to the hampered hydrocarbon oxidation by the synergistic action of Oxydtron-original stabilizer, which interferes with these flame reactions [91,189-191]. And this means that the chlorine emitted from the heat affected zone has been reduced. This is due to additional stabilizing synergistic action created by Oxydtron, which, together with the original stabilizer (Calcium-Zinc-based stabilizer), will enhance the thermal stability of poly(vinyl chloride).

The synthesis of Oxydtron plays a vital role in this synergistic behavior. Its composition contains several oxides that possess high thermal resistance and stability to elevated temperatures, such as calcium carbonate, silicon dioxide, titanium dioxide, etc. These oxides and carbonates can serve as a synergist agent with the original stabilizer to improve poly(vinyl chloride) thermal stability. The L.O.I test is carried out in several steps until obtained the required result, so as mentioned above, every time the test is carried out and fails, the burned layer is cut, and repeated the test for the same sample. Therefore, the layer located directly under the combustion zone will be affected by heat and is thermally stressed. Hence, its ignition is faster than it does not give correct and reliable results on the material's resistance.

However, after adding the Oxydtron, this heat affected layer will be perfect even if it is not the same as the condition before the test. Therefore, it ignites relatively slowly when re-testing as if it was burning for the first time, indicating an improvement in this layer's thermal resistance [3,75,100].

82



Figure 8.27. SEM - energy dispersive X-ray microanalysis for unburned plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation processed by extrusion



Figure 8.28. SEM - energy dispersive X-ray microanalysis for HAZ in burned plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation processed by extrusion



Figure 8.29. SEM - energy dispersive X-ray microanalysis for HAZ in burned plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 1wt.% Oxydtron processed by extrusion



Figure 8.30. SEM - energy dispersive X-ray microanalysis for HAZ in burned plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 3wt.% Oxydtron processed by extrusion



Figure 8.31. SEM - energy dispersive X-ray microanalysis for HAZ in burned plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing 5wt.% Oxydtron processed by extrusion

#### 8.9.3 Processing Method

The size of the heat affected zone depends on the type of processing method, as it is wider in rolling samples than in extrusion samples, as shown in Figure 8.32. Since the rolling sample is exposed to processing temperatures more prolonged than the one-stage extrusion, the rolling sample is more heat stressed. Also, the rolling temperature is irregular along the length of the roll, which causes the concentration of the elements to varying from one point to another depending on the amount of heat that was exposed during the rolling. This thing will accelerate it's yielding and softening when exposed to fires, unlike the extrusion sample, which resists fires better. Therefore, it is necessary to pay attention to the correct selection of the processing method in applications that require a high flame resistance.



Figure 8.32. FLIR for HAZ of (a) extruded plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation, (b) rolled plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation

Since the properties and composition of poly(vinyl chloride) depends on its history as mentioned before, any irregularity in the conditions of the processing (especially temperature and time) will lead to deterioration of properties and forming heterogeneous structure as shown in Figure 33 represent SEM - energy dispersive X-ray microanalysis of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) produced by rolling. When comparing this figure with Figure 8.27, which represents plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) produced by extrusion, we will find that there are fundamental differences between the two samples structures processed by rolling and extrusion, where the ratios of the essential elements of carbon, hydrogen, and oxygen were low and irregular distribution in the rolling samples than in the samples of extrusion [124].



Figure 8.33. SEM - energy dispersive X-ray microanalysis for unburned plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation processed by rolling

# **Chapter Nine: Conclusions**

The critical points obtained from the tests performed on plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) (basic formulation and containing Oxydtron) will be summarized in the conclusions section. There are two groups of conclusions: about tests of poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron and those relating to processing methods.

### 9.1 Conclusions of tests for plasticized PVC containing Oxydtron

- **1.** Oxydtron have the ability to create stabilizing-flame retarding synergistic effects which are proved by the results of thermal tests where the unique Oxydtron composition plays a major role in this characteristic and unexpected behavior for this material.
- 2. All the results obtained were not found in literature before.
- **3.** All properties of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) studied in this study were improved after the addition of Oxydtron; and the improvement ratio increases steadily with increasing the percentage of Oxydtron additives.
- **4.** The value of L.O.I improvement after the 5% Oxydtron addition is 25.23% and 17.6% more that of poly(vinyl chloride) of basic formulation for extrusion and rolling processes.
- **5.** The discoloration resistance of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) increased by increasing the percentage of Oxydtron additives; where the yellowish changes have been decreased accompanied with expansion of transformation time from transparent appearance to fully dark color; also replaced the sharp reduction path of lightness changes with a gradual decreasing path after Oxydtron addition, making plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) able to maintain a lighter appearance for longer time under the same test conditions.
- **6.** Extended the time period between beginning and ending of the color change in congo-red test in case on plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) containing Oxydtron to 86.4% longer than poly(vinyl chloride) of basic formulation, which means the chlorine release rate has also been decreased.

- 7. The gelation grade decreased after adding Oxydtron where it was 8% less that of poly(vinyl chloride) of basic formulation due to the presence of calcium compounds in the Oxydtron composition, which works in two ways; first it improves the thermal stability of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) and; second decreased the gelation grade. But the gelation temperature was shifted to a higher value than poly(vinyl chloride) of basic formulation because of the stabilizing action of Oxydtron additives.
- **8.** FTIR analysis detected many active groups within the Oxydtron's crystalline structure which gives it more affinity with plasticized poly(vinyl chloride).
- **9.** The degradation rate of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) was improved by Oxydtron additives and the optimum time required for full poly(vinyl chloride) degradation were 135.2%, 88.4%, and 146.4% longer than poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation obtained by 5% Oxydtron addition at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C.
- **10.** The degradation characteristic of Oxydtron containing compounds evaluated by the novel method shows better agreement with other, e.g., discoloration methods. It is worth introducing the conversion based method for all PVC compounds.
- **11.** Although the method based on real dehydrochlorination conversion gives shorter stability times than the standard, the excellence of Oxydtron is proven.
- 12. Because PVC-based compounds might contain different amounts of PVC, the standard method cannot be used for comparing different compounds. 60  $\mu$ S/cm specific conductivity represents the same amount of HCl but different degradation grade. Using only this method leads to misleading results.
- **13.** Glass transition temperature was shifted towards higher temperatures after Oxydtron addition, and this indicates that Oxydtron directly affects kinetic energy and segmental movement of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) causing to decrease them.
- **14.** The Oxydtron minimized the Bagley correction drop, which means the flowability of poly(vinyl chloride) was improved. Bagley correction values will decrease with increasing temperature.

- **15.**Oxydtron additives significantly improved and increased the poly(vinyl chloride) melt elasticity.
- **16.** The thermal degradation of poly(vinyl chloride) is not limited to the exposed flame layer but continues beyond the combustion layer, where the experiments have shown a decrease in chlorine content in the heat affected non-burning zone. In the absence of Oxydtron, heat affected zone will ignite easily due to structural changes. But in the presence of Oxydtron, the value of the thermal gradient has been reduced, and HAZ was minimized.

# 9.2 Conclusions of processing methods

- 1. The obvious difference in the composition of extruded and rolled poly(vinyl chloride) obtained by scanning electron microscopy proves that microstructure depends on the process and therefore this thing is what affects the properties being measured which is like a sequence and can be called process dependent structure-properties.
- **2.** The optimum properties results were obtained with extruded poly(vinyl chloride) and the thermal tests limiting oxygen index and differential scanning calorimetry have proven that
- **3.** The structure of poly(vinyl chloride) was more homogenous in terms of processing conditions, because it was produced in a single step (by extrusion only) so the residual stresses were less than rolled and thus less stressed.

# **Chapter Ten: New Scientific Results**

The tests that have been done on plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) revealed many new results that could lead to open a new horizon in the poly(vinyl chloride) industry. These results can be included as follows:

#### Claim 1

Using of Oxydtron for the first time as a poly(vinyl chloride) stabilizer and flame retardant agent with highly efficient for thermal stabilizing. Oxydtron was used first time as flame retardant agent in plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) compounds. It was discovered that Oxydtron is also a highly efficient thermal stabilizer. This stabilizing-flame retarding synergistic effect created by Oxydtron additives was unexpected behavior of a material used as a cement additive just for construction purposes. The performance of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) at high temperatures also improved significantly using Oxydtron additive.

### Claim 2

Oxydtron increases the limiting oxygen index (L.O.I.) of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) and can be used as flame retardant additive. By using 5wt.% Oxydtron 25.2 % improvement was reached in case of extruded and 17.6 % in case of roll-milled PVC. This effect is comparable with the effect of the toxic antimony-trioxide, therefore it is a promising replacement of it.

#### Claim 3

The performance of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) during dehydrochlorination process improves significantly by 135.2%, 88.4%, and 146.4% more than poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation after adding 5% Oxydtron addition, at 170°C, 180°C, and 190°C respectively.

#### Claim 4

I have developed a novel method for determination of level i.e. the conversion of degradation from the conductivity curve. In contrast to the standard method it describes better the process in particular in case of PVC compounds. (The computer program used in this method is shown in appendix 1). It shows a good agreement with the discoloration and initial color changes.

### Claim 5

Due to improved thermal stability of the poly(vinyl chloride), both the rate of degradation and the discoloration -expressed either in yellowing ( $\Delta b^*$ ) or in darkening ( $\Delta L^*$ )- decreased.

#### Claim 6

Where discoloration period has been extended after using Oxydtron, and the most significant improvement was 86.8% more than poly(vinyl chloride) basic formulation when using 5wt% Oxydtron.

### Claim 7

It was found that the Bagley correction slightly but consequently depends on the elasticity of melt. Oxydtron increases the melt's elasticity even at low concentration, e.g. 1wt.%.

#### Claim 8

For the first time a practical observation was supported by scientific evidence, namely, the structural changes of the layer located directly under the combustion area. I called this area heat affected zone (HAZ). This layer has not been previously studied; instead, researchers have only indicated its existence without actual study. The analysis of this zone proved to be important in assessing thermal stability.

### References

- Ali I.Al-Mosawi and Kálmán Marossy, Thermal Stability and Flame Retardant Properties of Plasticized Poly(vinyl chloride) Hybrid Composite for Construction Application, Építőanyag - Journal of Silicate Based and Composite Materials, Vol.71, Issue.6, 2019, pp.198-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.14382/epitoanyag-jsbcm.2019.35</u>
- 2. Ken Dowden, Prometheus, Oxford Research Encyclopedias, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780199381135.013.5363
- Ali I.Al-Mosawi and Kálmán Marossy, Heat Effected Zone in Unburned, Antimony Trioxide Containing Plasticized Poly(vinyl chloride), Építőanyag-Journal of Silicate Based and Composite Materials, Vol.70, No.3, 2018, pp.86-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.14382/epitoanyag-jsbcm.2018.16</u>
- J. A. J. Gowlett, The Discovery of Fire by Humans: A Long and Convoluted Process, Philosophical Transactions B, Vol.371, Issue.1696, 2016, pp. 20150164 (12 pages). <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0164</u>
- Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Study Using of Antimony Trioxide Material as a Flame Retardant Material, M. Sc. Thesis, Engineering College, Babylon University, Iraq, 2003. <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.4718.1529</u>
- 6. Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Flammability of Composites, Chapter 14, In: Njuguna, J. (ed.) Lightweight Composite Structures in Transport: Design, Manufacturing, Analysis and Performance, Woodhead Publishing, UK, 2016, pp. 361-369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-78242-325-6.00014-1</u>
- 7. Arlene Blum, Mamta Behl, Linda S. Birnbaum, Miriam L. Diamond, Allison Phillips, Veena Singla, Nisha S. Sipes, Heather M. Stapleton, and Marta Venier, Organophosphate Ester Flame Retardants: Are They a Regrettable Substitution for Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers?, Environmental Science and Technology Letters, Vol.6, Issue.11, 2019, pp.6380649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.9b00582</u>
- 8. Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Mustafa a. Rijab, Ali J. Salaman, Naser A. Alwash, and Najlaa S. Aziz, Flammability Behavior of Composite Mixed with Retardant

Agents, Applied Mechanics and Materials, Vol. 186, 2012, pp. 129-131. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.186.129

- **9.** Stephen Gardner, EU Moves to Restrict Environmentally Persistent Flame Retardant, Environment and energy report, Bloomberg Law, April 2020.
- 10. Mohammed H. Al-Maamori, Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Abbass A.Hashim, Flame Retardancy Enhancement of Hybrid Composite Material by Using Inorganic Retardants, Materials Sciences and Applications, Vol.2, No.8, 2011, pp. 1134-1138. https://doi.org/10.4236/msa.2011.28153
- 11. Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Jaleel K. Ahmed, Haydar A. Hussain, Evaluation Flame Retardancy of Epoxy Composite by Using Design of Experiments, Applied Mechanics and Materials, Vol. 186, 2012, pp. 156-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.186.156</u>
- 12. Nikolai Brushlinsky, Marty Ahrens, Sergei Sokolov, and Peter Wagner, World Fire Statistics, Report No.21, International Association of Fire And Rescue Services, Centre of Fire Statistics, 2016.
- **13.** Firefighters and fire-protection in the EU, Eurostat; Statistical Office of the European Union, May 2020.
- **14.**COFOG99: Fire-protection Services: Total General Government Expenditure, Eurostat; statistical office of the European Union, 2018.
- 15. Call to Action : The EU Needs A Fire Safety Strategy, Fire Safe Europe; the European association for fire safety, 2018. <u>https://firesafeeurope.eu/european-fire-safety-strategy-needed/</u>
- **16.** Europe is Playing with Fire, A Call to Action on Fire Safety in Buildings, Fire Safe Europe; the European association for fire safety, 2014.
- 17. Alexander B. Morgan, Jeffrey W. Gilman, An overview of Flame Retardancy of Polymeric Materials: Application, Technology, and Future Directions, Fire and Materials, Vol.37, Issue.4, 2013, pp.259-279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/fam.2128</u>
- 18. Eric Guillaume, Rene de Feijter, and Laurens van Gelderen, An Overview and Experimental Analysis of Furniture Fire Safety Regulations in Europe, Fire and Materials, Vol.44, Issue.5, 2020, pp. 624-639. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/fam.2826</u>

- **19.** Fire Research Report, Comparison of European Fire Statistics, Final Report for the Department for Communities and Local Government, Eland House, London, UK, 2012.
- 20. David Winberg, International Fire Death Rate Trends, SP Technical Research Institute of Sweden, Report No.32, 2016. <u>ISBN: 978-91-88349-36-1</u>
- 21. Ali I. Al-Mosawi, Hybrid Fire Retardants to Increasing Composting Resistance for Fibres-Reinforced Composites, Iraqi National Journal Of Chemistry, Vol. 41, 2011. pp 48-54. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.13550177
- **22.** Keshan Velasquez and Tyler Viani, Capstone Design Project Flame Retardants Families, University of Oklahoma, Chemical Engineering, 2006.
- 23. Sergei V. Levchik, Introduction to Flame Retardancy and Polymer Flammability, Chapter 1, In: Morgan, A. and Wilkie Ch.(eds.), Flame Retardant Polymer Nanocomposites. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2006. pp. 1-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470109038.ch1</u>
- 24. Vyto Babrauskas, Richard H. Harris Jr., Richard G. Gann, Barbara C. Levin, B.T. Lee, Richard D. Peacock, M. Paabo, W.H. Twilley, M.F. Yoklavich, H.M. Clark, Fire Hazard Comparison of Fire Retarded and Non-Fire-Retarded Products, Kindle Edition, NBS Special Publications No.749, 2020. ASIN : B084TZMN2N
- **25.**Carlos J. Hilado, Flammability Handbook for Plastics, 5<sup>th</sup> Edition, CRC Press, 1998. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/9780585248684</u>
- 26. Quanyi Liu, Donghui Wang, Zekun Li, Zhifa Li, Xiaoliang Peng, Chuanbang Liu, Yu Zhang, and Penglun Zheng, Recent Developments in the Flame-Retardant System of Epoxy Resin, Materials, Vol.13, Issue. 9, 2020, pp.2145 (39 pages). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma13092145</u>
- 27. Ali I. Al-Mosawi, Haider K. Amash, Mohammad H. Al-Maamori, and Abbass Hashim, Enhancement of thermal resistance of aircraft tires by using magnesium hydroxide ,Central Organization for Standardization and Quality Control (COSQC), No.3877, International Classification (B608C13/00), Iraqi Classification (34) ,2014.

- 28. Raymond R. Hindersinn, Historical Aspects of Polymer Fire Retardance, Chapter 7, In: Gordon L. Nelson, G. (ed.) Fire and Polymers: Hazards Identification and Prevention, ACS Symposium Series, Vol. 425, American Chemical Society, 1990, pp 87-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-1990-0425.ch007</u>
- 29. Daniel A. Villamil Watson and David A. Schiraldi, Biomolecules as Flame Retardant Additives for Polymers: A Review, Polymers, Vol.12, Issue.4, 2020, pp.849 (31 pages). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/polym12040849</u>
- **30.** Ryszard Kozlowski and Maria Wladyka-Przybylak, Natural Polymers, Wood and Lignocellulosic Materials, Chapter 9, In: Horrocks, A., Price, D. (eds.) Fire Retardant Materials, Woodhead Publishing Limited, UK, 2001, pp.305-317.
- 31. F. L. Brown, Theories of the combustion of wood and its control: A Survey of the Literature, Forest Service Report No.2136, Forest Products Laboratory, Madison Wis. 1958.
- 32. James Randall Lawson, A History of Fire Testing, NIST Technical Note 1628, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department of Commerce, March 2009.
- 33. Obadiah Wyld, Making or Preparing of Paper, Linen, Canvass and Such Like Substances, Which Will Neither Flame nor Retain Fire, and Which Hath Also a Property in it of Resisting Moisture and Damps, British Patent No.551, London, 1735.
- **34.** Gay-Lussac, Note sur la propriete qu'ont les matieres salines de rendre les tissus incombustibles (Note on the property that saline materials have to make tissues incombustible), Annales de chimie et de physique, Vol.18, 1821, pp.211-261.
- 35. Vytenis Babrauskas and Robert Brady Williamson, The historical basis of fire resistance testing - Part I, Fire Technology vol.14, Issue.3, 1978, pp.184–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01983053
- 36. Vytenis Babrauskas and Robert Brady Williamson, The historical basis of fire resistance testing - Part II, Fire Technology vol.14, Issue.4, 1978, pp. 304–316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01998390</u>

- 37. John R. Hall, Jr., A Century of Fire Standards: The History of Committee E05, 1904-2004, ASTM Standardization News, ASTM International, December 2004. https://www.astm.org/SNEWS/DECEMBER\_2004/hall\_dec04.html
- 38. James Randall Lawson, A History of Fire Testing: Past, Present, and Future, Journal of ASTM International, Vol. 6, No.4, 2009, pp. 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1520/JAI102265</u>
- **39.**Lianghui Ai, Shanshan Chen, Liu Yang, and Ping Liu, Synergistic Flame Retardant Effect of Organic Boron Flame Retardant and Aluminum Hydroxide on Polyethylene, Fibers and Polymers, Vol.22, Issue.2, 2021, pp.354-365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12221-021-9385-6
- **40.** Matthew D. Walter and Mark T. Wajer, Overview of Flame Retardants Including Magnesium Hydroxide, Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties LLC, Maryland, USA, 2015.
- **41.** Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Kahtan K.Al-Khazraji and Jaleel K.Al-Kafaji Performance Evaluation of Zinc Borate to improvement thermal properties of Antimony Trioxide at Elevated Temperatures, The Iraqi Journal for Mechanical and Material Engineering, Special Issue for 2<sup>nd</sup> scientific conference, engineering College, University of Babylon, Iraq, 24-25 March 2010.
- 42. Haiqiang Luo, Wenhui Rao, Peng Zhao, Liang Wang Yuanli Liu, and Chuanbai Yu, An Efficient Organic/Inorganic Phosphorus-Nitrogen-Silicon Flame Retardant Towards Low-Flammability Epoxy Resin, Polymer Degradation and Stability, Vol.178, 2020, pp. 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2020.109195</u>
- **43.** Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Haider K.Ammash, Mohammed H.Al-Maamori, and Abbass Hashim, Increasing flammability resistance for aircrafts tires by using magnesium hydroxide, Academic Research International, Vol.3, No.2, 2012, pp. 11–14.
- 44. Ali I. Al-Mosawi, Formation Hybrid Flame Retardant and its Effect on Thermal Resistance of Araldite resin Composite, Academic Research International, Vol.3, Issue.2, 2012, pp. 66-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.13633481</u>

- **45.** Siqi Huo, Shuang Yang, Jun Wang, Jianwen Cheng, Qianqian Zhang, Yefa Hu, Guoping Ding, Qiaoxin Zhang, and Pingan Song, A Liquid Phosphorus-Containing Imidazole Derivative as Flame-Retardant Curing Agent for Epoxy Resin with Enhanced Thermal Latency, Mechanical, and Flame-Retardant Performances, Journal of Hazardous Materials, Vol.386, 2020, pp.121984 (10 pages). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121984">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121984</a>
- **46.** Ali I. Al-Mosawi, Flame Retardancy of Polymers, 1<sup>st</sup> Edition, LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing, Germany, 2012, ISBN: 25531-659-3-978.
- 47. Wenchao Zhang, Xiangdong He, Tinglu Song, Qingjie Jiao, and Rongjie Yang, The Influence of the Phosphorus-Based Flame Retardant on the Flame Retardancy of the Epoxy Resins, Polymer Degradation and Stability, Vol.109, 2014, pp.209-217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2014.07.023</u>
- 48. Sergei Levchik, Phosphorus-Based FRs, Chapter 2, In: Morgan, A. and Wilkie Ch.(eds.), Non-Halogenated Flame Retardant Handbook, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 2014. pp. 17-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118939239.ch2</u>
- 49. Heinrich Horacek and Stefan Pieh, The Importance of Intumescent Systems for Fire Protection of Plastic Materials, Polymer International, Vol.49, Issue.10, 2000, pp.1106-1114 . <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0126(200010)49:10<1106::AID-PI539>3.0.CO;2-I">https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0126(200010)49:10<1106::AID-PI539>3.0.CO;2-I</a>
- 50. Ayşe Çetin, S.Gamze Erzengin, and F. Burcu Alp, Various Combinations of Flame Retardants for Poly (vinyl chloride), Open Chemistry, Vol.17, Issue.1, 2019, pp.980-987. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/chem-2019-0105</u>
- 51. Suprakas Sinha Ray and Malkappa Kuruma, Types of Flame Retardants Used for the Synthesis of Flame-Retardant Polymers, Chapter 4 In: Ray, S., Kuruma, M. (auth.) Halogen-Free Flame-Retardant Polymers Springer Series in Materials Science, Springer, Cham., Vol 294, 2019, pp.15-45. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35491-6\_4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35491-6\_4</a>
- 52. S. Duquesne and T. Futterer, Intumescent Systems, Chapter 8, In: Morgan, A. and Wilkie Ch.(eds.), Non-Halogenated Flame Retardant Handbook, Co-published by CoJohn Wiley and Sons, Inc. And Scrivener Publishing LLC., USA, 2014. pp. 293-346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118939239.ch8</u>

- 53. Jie Wang, Yu Guo, ShunPing Zhao, Rong-Yi Huang, and Xue-Jun Kong, A Novel Intumescent Flame Retardant Imparts High Flame Retardancy to Epoxy Resin, Polymers for Advanced Technologies, Vol.31, Issue.5, 2020,pp.932-940. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.4827</u>
- 54. Martin Klatt, Nitrogen-Based Flame Retardants, Chapter 4, In: Morgan, A. and Wilkie Ch.(eds.), Non-Halogenated Flame Retardant Handbook, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 2014. pp. 143-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118939239.ch4</u>
- 55. P. Guerra, M. Alaee, E. Eljarrat, and D. Barceló, Introduction to Brominated Flame Retardants: Commercially Products, Applications, and Physicochemical Properties, chapter 1, In Eljarrat, E., Barceló, D., Brominated Flame Retardants The Handbook Of Environmental Chemistry, 1<sup>st</sup> Edition, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, 2011, pp.1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/698\_2010\_93</u>
- 56. H. Vahabi, E. Movahedifar, and M. R. Saeb, Flame Retardancy of Reactive and Functional Polymers, Chapter 8, In: Gutiérrez, T. (ed.) Reactive and Functional Polymers, Vol.3, Springer Nature Switzerland AG, 2021, pp. 165-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50457-1\_8</u>
- 57. Jan-Pleun Lens, Xiudong Sun, and Lawino Kagumba, Polymeric Flame Retardants for Reinforced Thermoplastic and Thermoset Resins, Reinforced Plastics, Vol.63, Issue.1, 2019, pp.36-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.repl.2017.11.016
- 58. Carsten Lassen, Søren Løkke, and Lina Ivar Andersen, Brominated Flame Retardants: Substance Flow Analysis and Assessment of Alternatives, Environmental Project, Danish Environmental Protection Agency, 1999. ISBN: 87-7909-416-3. <u>http://www.mst.dk/199908pubs/87-7909-416-3/default.htm</u>
- 59. Aloshy Baby, Svetlana Tretsiakova-McNally, Malavika Arun, Paul Joseph, and Jianping Zhang, Reactive and Additive Modifications of Styrenic Polymers with Phosphorus-Containing Compounds and Their Effects on Fire Retardance, Molecules, Vol.25, Issue.17, 2020 pp.3779 (36 pages) <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25173779</u>
- 60. Kolapo Peluola Adewale, Thermoplastic Additives Flame Retardants, Chapter 26, In: Olabisi, O., Adewale, K. (eds.) Handbook of Thermoplastics, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, CRC Press, 2016, pp. 877-917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/b19190-27</u>
- 61. Ali I. Al-Mosawi, Kahtan K.Al-Khazraji, and Jaleel K.Al-Kafaji, Effect of Compilation Between Two Types of Inorganic Flame Retardants on Thermal Resistance for Advanced Composite Material at Elevated Temperatures, Proceedings of 5<sup>th</sup> Scientific Conference, College of Science, University of Babylon, Iraq, May 2010, pp.448-455.
- 62. Benjamin Zirnstein, Dietmar Schulze and Bernhard Schartel, Combination of Phosphorous Flame Retardants and Aluminum Trihydrate in Multicomponent EPDM Composites, Polymer Engineering and Science, Vol.60, Issue.2, 2019, pp.267-280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pen.25280</u>
- **63.** Jürgen H.Troitzsch, Overview of Flame Retardants , Chimica Oggi/Chemistry Today , Vol.16, No.1,1998, pp.18-24.
- **64.** Yuan Hu, Xin Wang (eds.), Flame Retardant Polymeric Materials: A Handbook, 1<sup>st</sup> Edition, CRC Press, USA, 2019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/b22345</u>
- **65.** Akram A. Mohammed, Plastics Chemistry, 1<sup>st</sup> Edition, House of Books for Printing and Publishing Mosul, Iraq, 1993.
- 66. Soheir Youssef Tawfik, Flame Retardants: Additives in Plastic Technology, Chapter 15, In: Palsule S. (eds.) Polymers and Polymeric Composites: A Reference Series. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2017, pp.1-27. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-37179-0\_76-2
- 67. Khalifah A. Salmeia, Julien Fage, Shuyu Liang, and Sabyasachi Gaan, An Overview of Mode of Action and Analytical Methods for Evaluation of Gas Phase Activities of Flame Retardants, Polymers, Vol.7, Issue.3, 2015, pp.504-526. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/polym7030504</u>
- 68. Bernhard Schartel, Phosphorus-based Flame Retardancy Mechanisms-Old Hat or a Starting Point for Future Development?, Materials, Vol.3, Issue.10, 2010, pp. 4710-4745. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma3104710</u>

- 69. Simone T. Lazar, Thomas J. Kolibaba, and Jaime C. Grunlan, Flame-Retardant Surface Treatments, Nature Reviews Materials, Vol.5, Issue.4, 2020, pp.259-275. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41578-019-0164-6
- **70.**E.M.Goodger, Flammability and Ignitability, Applied Energy, Vol.5, Issue.1, 1979, pp.81-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-2619(79)90007-2</u>
- **71.**Liz Burton, What Are the Key Differences Between Flammable and Combustible Materials?, High Speed Training Ltd., UK, 2019.
- 72. E. D. Dickens Jr., The Fire Performance of PVC, Journal of Vinyl Technology, Vol.5, Issue.3, 1983, pp.150-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/vnl.730050315</u>
- 73. Weronika Pawelec, New Families of Highly Efficient, Halogen-Free Flame Retardants for Polypropylene (PP), Doctoral Thesis, Åbo Akademi University, Finland, 2014.
- 74. PVC and Fire, Poly Marketing Pty Limited T/A Envorinex company, Australia, 2011.
- 75. Ali I.Al-Mosawi and Kálmán Marossy, Heavy Metal Free Thermal Stabilizing-flame Retarding Modifier for Plasticized Poly(vinyl chloride), Materials Research Express, Vol.7, Issue.1, 2020, pp. 015320 (11 pages). https://doi.org/10.1088/2053-1591/ab6249
- 76. Eliška Čechová, Šimon Vojta, Petr Kukučka, Anton Kočan, Tomáš Trnovec, Ľubica Palkovičová Murínová, Marijke de Cock, Margot van de Bor, Joakim Askevold, Merete Eggesbø, and Martin Scheringer, Legacy and alternative halogenated flame retardants in human milk in Europe: Implications for children's health, Environment International, Vol.108, November 2017, pp.137-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.08.008</u>
- 77. Maribel Casas, Cécile Chevrier, Elly Den Hond, Mariana F.Fernandez, Frank Pierik, Claire Philippat, Rémy Slama, Gunnar Toft, Stéphanie Vandentorren, Michael Wilhelm, and Martine Vrijheid, Exposure to brominated flame retardants, perfluorinated compounds, phthalates and phenols in European birth cohorts: ENRIECO evaluation, first human biomonitoring results, and recommendations, International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, Vol. 216, Issue.3, 2013, pp.230-242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2012.05.009</u>

- 78. Adrián de la Torre, Irene Navarro, Paloma Sanz, and Maríade los Ángeles Martínez, Organophosphate compounds, polybrominated diphenyl ethers and novel brominated flame retardants in European indoor house dust: Use, evidence for replacements and assessment of human exposure, Journal of Hazardous Materials, Vol.382, 15 January 2020, pp.121009 (8 pages). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121009
- 79. Hyun-Kyung Lee, Sunggyu Lee, Jae-Eun Lim, and Hyo-Bang Moon, Legacy and Novel Flame Retardants in Water and Sediment from Highly Industrialized Bays of Korea: Occurrence, Source Tracking, Decadal Time Trend, and Ecological Risks, Marine Pollution Bulletin, Vol.160, November 2020, pp.111639. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111639</u>
- 80. Marta Venier, Alice Dove, Kevin Romanak, Sean Backus, and Ronald Hites, Flame retardants and legacy chemicals in Great Lakes' water, Environmental Science and Technology, Vol.48, Issue.16, 2014, pp.9563-72. https://doi.org/10.1021/es501509r
- 81. Jing Liu, Chan Liang, BoPeng, Yu-Yu Zhang, Liang-Ying Liu, and Eddy Y.Zeng, Legacy and alternative flame retardants in typical freshwater cultured fish ponds of South China: Implications for evolving industry and pollution control, Science of The Total Environment, In Press, Available online 19 October 2020, pp.143016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143016</u>
- 82. Jiecong Zhang, Xiaodan Wu, Huiying Guo, Xiaobo Zheng, and Bixian Mai, Pollution of plastic debris and halogenated flame retardants (HFRs) in soil from an abandoned e-waste recycling site: Do plastics contribute to (HFRs) in soil?, Journal of Hazardous Materials, In Press, Available online 24 November 2020, pp.124649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.124649</u>
- 83. Yan Wang, Zihao Zhang, Feng Tan, Timothy F.M. Rodgers, Minmin Hou, Ya Yang, and Xuehua Li, Ornamental Houseplants as Potential Biosamplers for Indoor Pollution of Organophosphorus Flame Retardants, Science of The Total Environment, Vol.767, 2021, pp.144433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144433

- 84. Badreddine Barhoumi, Marc Tedetti, Andrea Peris, Catherine Guigue, Òscar Aznar-Alemany, Soufiane Touil, Mohamed Ridha Driss, and Ethel Eljarrat, Halogenated Flame Retardants in Atmospheric Particles from a North African Coastal City (Bizerte, Tunisia): Pollution Characteristics and Human Exposure, Atmospheric Pollution Research, Vol.11, Issue. 4, 2020, pp.831-840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2020.01.011
- 85. Andrzej Jarosinski, Piotr Radomski, Lukasz Lelek, and Joanna Kulczycka, New Production Route of Magnesium Hydroxide and Related Environmental Impact, Sustainability 2020, Vol.12, Issue. 21, 2020, pp.8822 (14 pages). https://doi.org/10.3390/su12218822
- 86. Stefan Gebke, Katrin Thümmler, Rodolphe Sonnier, Sören Tech, Andre Wagenführ, and Steffen Fischer, Suitability and Modification of Different Renewable Materials as Feedstock for Sustainable Flame Retardants, Molecules, Vol.25, Issue.21, 2020, pp.5122 (13 pages). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25215122
- 87. Soledad González-Rubio, Ana Ballesteros-Gómez, Alexandros G. Asimakopoulos, and Veerle L.B. Jaspers, A review on Contaminants of Emerging Concern in European Raptors (2002–2020), Science of The Total Environment, Vol.760, 2021, pp.143337 (17 pages). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143337
- 88. Regulation (EC) No 1272/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures, amending and repealing Directives 67/548/EEC and 1999/45/EC, and amending Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006, Official Journal of the European Union, Vol.51, 31 December 2008.
- 89. Ai-Ning Zhang, Hai-Bo Zhao, Jin-Bo Cheng, Meng-En Li, Shu-Liang Li, Min Cao, and Yu-Zhong Wang, Construction Of Durable Eco-Friendly Biomass-Based Flame-Retardant Coating For Cotton Fabrics, Chemical Engineering Journal, Vol.410, 2021, pp.128361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.128361</u>
- **90.**Na Li, Jing Ming, Ruchao Yuan, Shuo Fan, Liu Liu, Faxue Li, Xueli Wang, Jianyong Yu, and Dequn Wu, Novel Eco-Friendly Flame Retardants Based on

Nitrogen-Silicone Schiff Base and Application in Cellulose, ACS Sustainable Chemistry and Engineering, Vol.8, Issue.1, 2020, pp.290-301. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.9b05338

- 91. Ayesha Kausar, Fire Protection: Flame-Retardant Polymers in, Chapter 61, In: Mishra, M. (ed.) Encyclopedia of Polymer Applications, First Edition, CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, USA, 2019, pp.1258-1272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/9781351019422-140000019</u>
- 92. Christoph Koch, Milen Nachev, Julia Klein, Daniel Köster, Oliver J. Schmitz, Torsten C. Schmidt, and Bernd Sures, Degradation of the Polymeric Brominated Flame Retardant "Polymeric FR" by Heat and UV Exposure, Environmental Science and Technology, 2019, Vol.53, Issue.3, 2019, pp.1453– 1462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b03872</u>
- 93. Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Kálmán Marossy and Csaba Kónya, Effect Of Plasticiser Percentage on Thermal Properties of Plasticised PVC, Elixir International Journal (Materials Science), Vol.117, 2018, pp. 50509- 50511. <u>https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.12567878</u>
- **94.** Charles E.Wilkes, James W.Summers, Charles Anthony Daniels, PVC Handbook, Hanser publisher, 2005. ISBN: 9781569903797.
- 95. Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Ali.A.Al-Zubadi, Mohammed H.Al-Maamori and Najah M.Al-Maimuri, Fire Retardants for Civil Structures, Global journal of researches in engineering: C, Chemical Engineering, Vol.13, Issue.2,2013, pp. 8-12.
- 96. Ali I.Al-Mosawi, Ali. A. Al-Zubadi, Mohammed H.Al-Maamori, Increasing **PVC** Inhibition Flame Resistance for Composite by Using 2ZnO.3B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>.3.5H<sub>2</sub>O-Sb<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> Mixture, Topclass Journal of Engineering and Materials Sciences, Vol.1, No.1, 2014, 1-4. pp. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.12570869
- **97.** Arjen Sevenster, PVC Plasticisers, The European Council of Vinyl Manufacturers (ECVM), Brussels, Belgium, 2010.

- **98.** Boris Fleites-Jończyk, PVC Plasticization with Oxoviflex® How to Conduct a Proper Production Process-Based on the Example of Coated Materials, Grupa Azoty Zakłady Azotowe Kędzierzyn S.A., Poland,2017.
- **99.** Stabilisers, The European Council of Vinyl Manufacturers (ECVM), Brussels, Belgium, 2020. <u>https://pvc.org/about-pvc/pvc-additives/stabilisers/</u>
- 100. Ali I.Al-Mosawi and Kálmán Marossy, Thermal Stability and Flame Retardant Properties of Plasticized Poly(vinyl chloride) Hybrid Composite for Construction Application, Építőanyag - Journal of Silicate Based and Composite Materials, Vol.71, Issue.6, 2019, pp.198-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.14382/epitoanyag-jsbcm.2019.35</u>
- **101.** Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC): Properties, Processing, and Applications, Matmatch GmbH, Munich, Germany, 2018.
- 102. Laurence W.McKeen, Permeability Properties of Plastics and Elastomers, 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition, William Andrew: USA, 2012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/C2010-0-66502-3</u>
- **103.** Ali I.Al-Mosawi and Kálmán Marossy, Elimination of plasticized poly(vinyl chloride) degradability by using oxydtron: a novel study, ARPN Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences, Vol.15, Issue.3, 2020, pp. 405-411.
- 104. Thomas Hjertberg and Erling M.Sörvik, Formation of anomalous structures in pvc and their influence on the thermal stability:1. endgroup structures and labile chlorine substituted by phenol, Journal of Macromolecular Science: Part A-Chemistry, Vol. 17, Issue 6, 1982, pp. 983-1004. Published online: 05 Dec 2006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00222338208056497</u>
- 105. Thomas Hjertberg and Erling M.Sörvik, Formation of anomalous structures in PVC and their influence on the thermal stability: 2. Branch structures and tertiary chlorine, Polymer, Vol.24, Issue.6, 1983, pp.673-684. Available online 24 April 2003. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0032-3861(83)90003-4</u>
- 106. Michael Schiller, PVC Additives: Performance, Chemistry, Developments, and Sustainability, 1<sup>st</sup> Edition, Hanser Publications, 2015. <u>ISBN: 978-1-56990-543-2</u>

- 107. Thomas Hjertberg and Erling M.Sörvik, Formation of anomalous structures in PVC and their influence on the thermal stability: 3. Internal chloroallylic groups, Polymer, Vol.24, Issue.6, 1983, pp.685-692. Available online 24 April 2003. https://doi.org/10.1016/0032-3861(83)90004-6
- 108. C. Jurriaan, M. Van den Heuvel, and Anton J. M. Weber, End groups in poly(vinyl chloride) and their influence on the thermal stability, Macromolecular Chemistry and Physics, Vol.184, Issue.11,1983, pp.2261-2273. https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.1983.021841108
- 109. Alain Michel, PVC Thermal Stability Assessment Using Tests in the Presence of Stabilizers, Journal of vinyl and additive technology, Vol.7, Issue.2, 1985, pp.77-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/vnl.730070208</u>
- 110. Alain Guyot, Working party on defects in the molecular structure of polyvinylchloride and their relation to thermal stability: General conclusions, Journal of vinyl and additive technology, Vol.7, Issue.2, 1985, pp.92-94. https://doi.org/10.1002/vnl.730070209
- 111. Alain Michel, Working party on defects in the molecular structure of polyvinylchloride and their relation to thermal stability: General introduction, Journal of vinyl and additive technology, Vol.7, Issue.2, 1985, pp.46-52. https://doi.org/10.1002/vnl.730070203
- **112.** Arjen Sevenster, What is PVC, The European Council of Vinyl Manufacturers, Brussels, Belgium, 2012.
- 113. A. William Coaker, Fire and Flame Retardants for PVC, Journal of Vinyl & Additive Technology, Vol. 9, No. 3, 2003, pp. 108-115. https://doi.org/10.1002/vnl.10072
- 114. John C. Morley and Richard F. Grossman, Flame Retardants and Smoke Suppressants, Chapter 16, In Wickson, E. J., (Ed.), Handbook of PVC Formulating, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, John Wiley and Sons, New York, N.Y., 2007, pp. 403-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470253595.ch16</u>
- **115.** G.Akovali, Plastic Materials: Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC), Chapter 2, In: Pacheco-Torgal, F., Jalali, S. and Fucic, A. (eds.) Toxicity of Building

Materials, Woodhead Publishing Series in Civil and Structural Engineering, 2012, pp.23-53. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857096357.23

- 116. Feng Ye, Qiufeng Ye, Haihua Zhan, Yeqian Ge, Xiaotao Ma, Yingying Xu, and Xu Wang, Synthesis and Study of Zinc Orotate and its Synergistic Effect with Commercial Stabilizers for Stabilizing Poly(vinyl chloride), Polymers, Vol.11, Issue.2, 2019, pp.194 (16 pages). https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11020194
- 117. E. Santamaría, M. Edge, N. S. Allen, H. B. Harvey, M. Mellor, and J. Orchison, New Insights into the Degradation Mechanism of Poly (vinyl chloride), Part (III): Implementation of New Costabilizers-Towards Heavy Metal Free Systems (HMFS), Journal of Applied Polymer Science, 96(1), 2005, pp.122-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/app.21414</u>
- 118. Mei Li, Jinwen Zhang, Junna Xin, Kun Huang, Shouhai Li, Mei Wang, and Jianling Xia, Design of Green Zinc-Based Thermal Stabilizers Derived from Tung Oil Fatty Acid and Study Of Thermal Stabilization for PVC, Journal of Applied Polymer Science, Vol.134, Issue.14, 2017, pp.44679 (11 pages). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/app.44679</u>
- **119.** Gary Conroy, New Alternatives for Environmentally Friendly Heat Stabilizers, Plastics Technology, 1999.
- 120. Aran Asawakosinchai, Chanchira Jubsilp, and Sarawut Rimdusit, Organic Based Heat Stabilizers for PVC: A Safer and More Environmentally Friendly Alternatives, Key Engineering Materials, Vol 659, 2015, pp 321-326. <u>https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/KEM.659.321</u>
- 121. Ali I. Al-Mosawi, Kálmán Marossy, L.O.I and DSC analyses of antimony trioxide containing plasticised PVC as a function of processing method, MultiScience - XXXII. microCAD International Multidisciplinary Scientific Conference 5-6 September University of Miskolc, Hungary, 2018 pp.1-5. <u>http://doi.org/10.26649/musci.2018.017</u>
- 122. Kálmán Marossy, Effect of Thermal-and Shear History on the Flow of Plasticised PVC Melts, Proceedings of PVC Formulation, International conference on the PVC industry, Cologne, Germany, 5-7 April 2016.

- W. V. Titow, PVC Plastics: Properties, Processing, And Applications, 1<sup>st</sup> Edition, Springer: Netherlands, 1990. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-3834-5</u>
- **124.** Ali I.Al-Mosawi and Kálmán Marossy, Processing conditions and their effect on homogeneity of PPVC structural characteristics, ARPN Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences, Vol.14, Issue.14, 2019, pp. 2485-2491.
- 125. A. Rudin, Effect of Processing History on Melt Flow Defects, Polymer engineering and science, Vol.70, No.2, 1970. pp.94-101. https://doi.org/10.1002/pen.760100207
- 126. Ali I. Al-Mosawi, Kálmán Marossy, Performance Evaluation of Mixing Mechanism and Its Effects on Thermal Behaviour of Plasticised PVC, International Journal of Engineering and Technology (IJET), Vol. 9, No.6, 2017, pp. 4389-4396. <u>https://doi.org/10.21817/ijet/2017/v9i6/170906130</u>
- 127. Franz Grajewski, Henning Stieglitz, Cost-Efficient Production: Extruding Plasticised PVC Film, Kunststoffe International, Vol. 10, 2003, pp.61-63.( Translated from Kunststoffe 10/2003, pp. 169-172).
- 128. Yujun Deng, Peiyun Yi, Linfa Peng, Xinmin Lai, and Zhongqin Lin, Flow Behavior of Polymers During the Roll-To-Roll Hot Embossing Process, Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering, Vol. 25, Issue.6, 2015, pp.065004 (11pp). <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/0960-1317/25/6/065004</u>
- 129. S. P. Dunuweera and R. M. G. Rajapakse, Cement Types, Composition, Uses and Advantages of Nanocement, Environmental Impact on Cement Production, and Possible Solutions, Advances in Materials Science and Engineering, Vol. 2018, Article ID 4158682, 2018, pp.1-11 (11 pages). https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/4158682
- **130.** Oxydtron Nanocement, Cement Quality Improving Admixture, Bioekotech Hungary KFT., 2014. <u>https://oxydtron.hu/en/</u>
- 131. Fabrice Merlin, Hélène Lombois, Stéphane Joly, Nicolas Lequeux, Jean-Louis Halarya, and Henri Van Damme, Cement-Polymer and Clay-Polymer Nano- and Meso-Composites: Spotting the Difference, Journal of Materials

Chemistry, Vol.12, Issue.11, 2002, pp. 3308-3315. https://doi.org/10.1039/B205279M

- 132. V.S. Ramachandran, Ralph M. Paroli, James J. Beaudoin, and Ana H. Delgado, Introduction to Concrete Admixtures, Chapter 4, In: Ramachandran, V.; Paroli, R.; Beaudoin, J.; Delgado, A.(auts.) Handbook of Thermal Analysis of Construction Materials, 1<sup>st</sup> Edition, William Andrew Inc.: USA, 2002, pp:143-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-081551487-9.50006-2</u>
- 133. Guillermo Bastos, Faustino Patiño-Barbeito, Faustino Patiño-Cambeiro, and Julia Armesto, Admixtures in Cement-Matrix Composites for Mechanical Reinforcement, Sustainability, and Smart Features, *Materials*, Vol.9, Issue.12, 2016, pp.927 (1-27). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma9120972</u>
- **134.** E. Baumann, Ueber einige Vinylverbindungen (On some vinyl compounds), Annalen der Chemie und Pharmacie, Vol.163, 1872, pp.308-322.
- 135. Karel Mulder and Marjolijn Knot, PVC Plastic: A History of Systems Development and Entrenchment, Technology in Society, Vol.23, Issue.2, 2001, pp.265-286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-791X(01)00013-6</u>
- **136.** Morris Kaufman, A History of the Chemistry and Industrial Production of Polyvinyl Chloride, PhD thesis, Imperial College, London University, 1968.
- 137. R. D. Doworkin, PVC Stabilizers of the Past, Present, and Future, Journal of Vinyl Technology, Vol.11, Issue.1, 1989, pp.15-22. https://doi.org/10.1002/vnl.730110106
- **138.** Frazier Groff, Plastic Composition, Plastic Composition, Canadian Patent No.CA 346164, 1934.
- **139.** Marion C.Reed and Groff Frasier, Stabilization of Vinyl Resins And Compositions Produced Thereby, American Patent No. US 2075543A, 1937.
- 140. Arthur K.Doolittle, Light Stabilizer for Vinyl Resins, American Patent No. US 2161026A, 1939.
- 141. Yngve Victor, Stabilized Vinyl Resins, American Patent No. US 2219463A, 1940.
- **142.** Arthur K.Doolittle, Vinyl resin coating and process producing same, American Patent No. US 2258243A, 1941.

- 143. Yngve Victor, Stabilized Vinyl Resins, American Patent No. US2307090A, 1943.
- **144.** Robert A Buckley and Russo Nadine, Polyvinyl chloride resins stabilized with a combination of a calcium salt, zinc salt, a phosphorus compound, and a sulphate or saccharin, American Patent No. US 3231531A, 1966.
- **145.** Robert G. Elcik, Fire retardant polyvinyl chloride containing compositions, American Patent No. US 3983290A, 1976.
- 146. Li Nie, Heavy Metal Free Halogenated Polymer Compounds, Patent No. WO2014150743A1, 2014.
- 147. Ugo Zucchelli, PVC Flame Retardant Compositions, Patent No. WO 2014013284A1, 2014.
- 148. Aran Asawakosinchai, Chanchira Jubsilp, Phattarin Mora, and Sarawut Rimdusit, Organic Heat Stabilizers for Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC): A Synergistic Behavior of Eugenol and Uracil Derivative, Journal of Materials Engineering and Performance Vol.26, Issue.10, 2017, pp.1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11665-017-2923-0</u>
- 149. Ç. Korkusuz and A. P. Tüzüm Demir, Evaluation of the Thermal Stabilization Behavior of Hydrotalcite Against Organic Stabilizers for Plasticized PVC Films, Polymer Bulletin, Vol.77, Issue.9, 2020, pp.4805-4831. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00289-019-02977-8</u>
- 150. Bing Wang, Yi-heng Lu, and Yu-wei Lu, Organic Tin, Calcium-Zinc and Titanium Composites as Reinforcing Agents and its Effects on the Thermal Stability of Polyvinyl Chloride, Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry, Vol.142, Issue.2, 2020, pp.671-683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-020-09767-</u> <u>9</u>
- Technical Data Sheet (TDS), ONGROVIL® S-5070, BorsodChem Zrt., Issue 5.0-01.2016, Version: English, 02.05.2017.
- 152. Safety Data Sheet, Dioctyl Phthalate, DEZA, a. s. CO., Valašské Meziříčí, Czech Republic, 2007.
- **153.** Materials Technical Data Sheet, NEWSTAB-50, Betaquímica CO., Barcelona, Spain, 2009.

- **154.** Licowax E Powder Specifications, Clariant International Ltd, Muttenz Switzerland.
- **155.** ISO EN 305:2019, Plastics -Determination of Thermal Stability of Poly(vinyl chloride), Related Chlorine-Containing Homopolymers and Copolymers and Their Compounds -Discoloration Method, International Organization for Standardization (ISO), 2019.
- 156. Christian H. Stapfer, On Measuring PVC Heat Stability by Scanning Reflectometry, Journal of vinyl and additive technology, Vol.5, Issue.1, 1983, pp.19-21. Available online 2004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/vnl.730050107</u>
- 157. ISO 4589-2:2017, Plastics Determination of Burning Behaviour by Oxygen Index - Part 2: Ambient-Temperature Test, International Organization for Standardization (ISO), 2017.
- 158. Artur Witkowski, Anna A. Stec, and T. Richard Hull, Thermal Decomposition of Polymeric Materials, Chapter 7, In Hurley M.(ed.), SFPE Handbook of Fire Protection Engineering, 5<sup>th</sup> Edition, Springer, New York, USA, 2016, pp.167-254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2565-0\_7</u>
- **159.** ISO 182-1:1990(E), Plastics Determination of the Tendency of Compounds and Products Based on Vinyl Chloride Homopolymers and Copolymers to Evolve Hydrogen Chloride and any Other Acidic Products at Elevated Temperatures - Part 1: Congo red method, International Organization for Standardization (ISO), 1990.
- 160. ISO 11357-2:2013, Plastics Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) Part 2: Determination of glass transition temperature and Glass Transition Step Height, International Organization for Standardization (ISO), 2013.
- **161.** R S Khandpur, Handbook of Analytical Instruments, 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition, McGRAW Hill India, New Delhi, 2015.
- 162. ISO 6721-11, Plastics-Determination of Dynamic Mechanical Properties Part11: Glass Transition Temperature, International Organization forStandardization (ISO), 2012.

- 163. ISO 182-3:1993, Plastics-Determination of the Tendency Of Compounds and Products Based on Vinyl Chloride Homopolymers and Copolymers to Evolve Hydrogen Chloride and any Other Acidic Products at Elevated Temperatures-Part 3: Conductometric Method, International Organization for Standardization (ISO), 1993.
- 164. PVC Thermomat, Metrohm Magyarország Kft., Hungary, 2018.
- **165.** ISO 11664-1:2007, Colorimetry-Part 1: CIE Standard Colorimetric Observers, International Organization for Standardization (ISO), 2007.
- **166.** Spectrophotometer: AATCC Evaluation Procedure 6, University of Northern Iowa, USA, 2003.
- 167. ISO 11443:2014, Plastics -Determination of the Fluidity of Plastics Using Capillary and Slit-Die Rheometers, International Organization for Standardization (ISO), 2014.
- 168. Christopher E. Hobbs, Recent Advances in Bio-Based Flame Retardant Additives for Synthetic Polymeric Materials, Polymers, Vol. 11, Issue.2, 2019. pp. 229 (31 pages). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11020224</u>
- 169. Christian H. Stapfer, On measuring PVC heat stability by scanning reflectometry, Journal of vinyl and additive technology, Vol.5, Issue.1, 1983, pp.19-21. Available online 2004 .<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/vnl.730050107</u>
- 170. Asim Kumar Roy Choudhury, Colour-Difference Assessment, Chapter 3, In: Choudhury, A. (auth.) Principles of Colour and Appearance Measurement Volume 2: Visual Measurement of Colour, Colour Comparison and Management, Woodhead Publishing, UK, 2015, pp. 55-116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1533/9781782423881.55</u>
- 171. Haisong Xu, Hirohisa Yaguchi, and Satoshi Shioiri, Testing CIELAB-Based Color-Difference Formulae Using Large Color Differences, Optical Review, Vol.8, Issue.6, 2001, pp.487-494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02931740</u>
- 172. George Wypych, Principles of Thermal Degradation, Chapter 4, In: Wypych, G. (auth.) PVC Degradation and Stabilization, 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition, ChemTec Publishing, Canada, 2015. pp. 79-165 . <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-895198-85-0.50006-6">https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-895198-85-0.50006-6</a>

- 173. Gyula Lukács, Color Measurement, 1<sup>st</sup> Edition, Technical Publisher: Budapest, Hungary, 1982. ISBN: 963-10-4484-x
- 174. Danfeng Zhang, Shen Yao, Shuai Li, Jun Wang, and Youwei Yao, A Novel La-Containing Additive for the Long-Term Thermal Stabilization of poly(vinyl chloride), Polymer Degradation and Stability, Vol.144, October 2017, pp.187-194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2018.08.003</u>
- 175. J. Wang, J. Yao, X. H. Xiong, C. X. Jia, R. Ren, P. Chen, and X. M. Liu, The Effects of Thermally Reversible Agents on PVC Stability Properties, IOP Conf. Series: Materials Science and Engineering, Vol.137, 2016, pp. 012030 (7 pages). <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/137/1/012030</u>
- 176. Luis J. González-Ortiz, MartínArellano, Carlos F.Jasso, Eduardo Mendizábal, and M. Judith Sánchez-Peña, Thermal Stability of Plasticized Poly(vinyl chloride) Compounds Stabilized With Pre-Heated Mixtures of Calcium and/or Zinc Stearates, Polymer Degradation and Stability, Vol.90, Issue.1, 2005, pp.154-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2005.04.013</u>
- 177. William H. Starnes and Xianlong Ge, Mechanism of Autocatalysis in the Thermal Dehydrochlorination of Poly(vinyl chloride), Macromolecules, Vol.37, Issue.2, 2004, pp.352-359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ma0352835</u>
- 178. Xue-Gang Zheng, Li-Hua Tang, Na Zhang, Qing-Hua Gao, Cheng-Fang Zhang, and Zi-Bin Zhu, Dehydrochlorination of PVC Materials at High Temperature, Energy and Fuels, Vol.17, Issue.4, 2003, pp.896-900. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef020131g
- 179. R.P Taubinger, M.W Allsopp, H.J.M Vander, and Loo J.J Mooij, Measuring the Heat Stability Of PVC by Dehydrochlorination, Polymer Testing, Vol.6, Issue.5, 1986, pp.337-350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0142-9418(86)90039-5</u>
- 180. Han, W, Zhang, M, Li, D, et al. Design and synthesis of a New Mannitol Stearate Ester-Based Aluminum Alkoxide as a Novel Tri-Functional Additive for Poly(vinyl chloride) and its Synergistic Effect with Zinc Stearate, Polymers, Vol.11, Issue.6, 2019, pp. 1031 (18 pages). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11061031</u>

- 181. Johanna Aho and Seppo Syrjälä, Determination of the Entrance Pressure Drop in Capillary Rheometry Using Bagley Correction and Zero-Length Capillary, Annual transactions of the Nordic Rheology Society, Vol. 14, 2006.
- 182. Johanna Aho and Seppo Syrjälä, Evaluation of Different Methods for Determining the Entrance Pressure Drop in Capillary Rheometry, Applied Rheology, Vol.18, Issue.6, 2008, Published online: 12 Jun 2019, pp 63258 (5 pages). <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/arh-2008-0022</u>
- 183. Nickolas D. Polychronopoulos, John Vlachopoulos, Polymer Processing and Rheology, Chapter 4, In: Jafar Mazumder, M., Sheardown, H., Al-Ahmed, A. (eds.) Functional Polymers. Polymers and Polymeric Composites: A Reference Series. Springer, Cham. 2019, pp.133-180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95987-0\_4</u>
- 184. Marko Hyvärinen, Rowshni Jabeen, and Timo Kärki, The Modelling of Extrusion Processes for Polymers-A Review, Polymers, Vol.12, Issue.6, 2020, pp.1306 (14 page). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/polym12061306</u>
- **185.** Adripn Lee KELLY, On-Line Shear and Extensional Rheometry of Polymer Melts in the Extrusion Process, PhD thesis, University of Bradford, UK, 1998.
- 186. John R.WagnerJr., Eldridge M.Mount III, and Harold F.GilesJr., Shear Rate, Pressure Drop, and Other Extruder Calculations, Chapter 17, In: Wagner, J., Mount, E., and Giles, H. (eds.) Extrusion: The Definitive Processing Guide and Handbook, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, William Andrew, USA, 2014, pp. 203-206. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4377-3481-2.00017-X
- 187. Valentina Mazzanti and Francesco Mollica, A Review of Wood Polymer Composites Rheology and Its Implications for Processing, Polymers, Vol.12, Issue.10, 2020, pp.2304 (23 page). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/polym12102304</u>
- **188.** Kálmán Marossy, Testing polymer mixtures by Dynamic Mechanical Analysis, Manuscript of a lecture: Hungarian Academy of Sciences, 2006.
- 189. K.T. Paul, Feasibility Study to Demonstrate the Potential of Smoke Hoods in Simulated Aircraft Fire Atmospheres: Development of the Fire Model, Fire and Materials, Vol.14, Issue.2, 1989, pp.43-58. Published online: 14 Sept. 2004.<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/fam.810140203</u>

- 190. Krzysztof Lebek, T. Richard Hull, and Dennis Price, Products of Burning Rigid PVC Burning Under Different Fire Conditions, Chapter 26, In: Wilkie, C.A., Nelson, G.L. (eds.) Fire and Polymers IV: Materials and Concepts for Hazard Prevention, ACS Symposium Series No. 922, Washington, DC., Oxford : American Chemical Society, 2006, pp. 334-347. https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2006-0922
- 191. Huggett, C.; Levin, B.C. Toxicity of the Pyrolysis and Combustion Products of Poly (vinyl chlorides): A Literature Assessment, Fire and Materials, 1987, Vol.11, Issue.3, 1987, pp.131-142. Published online: 14 Sept. 2004. https://doi.org/10.1002/fam.810110303
- **192.** Table of Conductivity vs. Concentration for Common Solutions, Invensys/Foxboro, Foxboro, Massachusetts, USA, 1999.

## Appendix

Novel evaluation program for estimated dehydrochlorination.

CLS

PRINT " Converts Thermomat txt files to 30s equidistant list."

PRINT " Absorbtion fluid 50ml water"

PRINT " Decimal: point; Separator; comma"

PRINT " The .TXT extension must not be written."

CONST ln10 = 2.302585

```
DIM a(2500, 2): 'original data from instrument, col1=time; col2=kappa
```

```
DIM fe(1500, 4): 'col1=time; col2=kappa; <u>col3=HCl mg</u>; col4=conversion
```

INPUT "Working disk "; w\$: IF w\$ = "" THEN w\$ = "": PRINT "Default folder."

eleje:

INPUT "File"; n\$

```
OPEN w+n + ".TXT" FOR INPUT AS #1
```

'omitting first 5 rows

FOR i = 1 TO 5: LINE INPUT #1, non\$

NEXT i

1:

n = 1

DO WHILE NOT EOF(1)

```
INPUT #1, a(n, 1), a(n, 2)
```

n = n + 1

LOOP

```
n = n - 1
```

CLOSE 1

'reduce to zero

cr = 1000000: 'selecting the smallest conductivity

FOR i = 1 TO n

IF cr > a(i, 2) THEN cr = a(i, 2)

NEXT i

'compensation, the smallest conductivity is subtracted from all kappa data

```
FOR i = 1 TO n:
 a(i, 2) = a(i, 2) - cr
NEXT i
'makeng an equidistant table with 30 s time step
'interpolacio
fe(1, 1) = 0: fe(1, 2) = 0: 'first data point
tim = 0: 'start from zero
ve = INT(a(n, 1)): 'last time
   m = 1
DO UNTIL tim >= ve
 tim = (m - 1) * 30: '30 seconds is the increment
   FOR i = 1 TO n
    IF a(i, 1) >= tim THEN EXIT FOR
   NEXT i
fe(m, 1) = tim
  mut = (tim - a(i - 1, 1)) / (a(i, 1) - a(i - 1, 1))
  fe(m, 2) = a(i - 1, 2) + mut * (a(i, 2) - a(i - 1, 2))
  m = m + 1
LOOP
  m = m - 1
' converting the conductivity into HCl mg/litre
'HCl mg/litre then HCl mg in 50 ml
FOR i = 1 TO m
 IF fe(i, 2) \le 0 THEN
 fe(i, 3) = 0
 ELSE
   s1 = LOG(fe(i, 2)) / ln10: 'log kappa
'next line is the equation calculating HCl mg/litre from conductivity
   lgc = .9882 * s1 + .003988 * s1 ^ 2 - 1.05788
   x = lgc * ln10: c = EXP(x): 'HCl mg/litre
```

```
'the mg/litre will be divided by 20 > 50 ml water
  fe(i, 3) = c / 20: 'HCl mg liberated
 END IF
NEXT i
'HCl calculation ready
INPUT "PVC in miligrams: "; p:' HCl mg at 100% conversion
p = p * .584: 'real HCl in mg at time fe(i, 1)
FOR i = 1 TO m
 fe(i, 4) = 100 * fe(i, 3) / p: ' conversion in \%
NEXT i
OPEN w$ + n$ + ".ASC" FOR OUTPUT AS #1
FOR i = 1 TO m
  PRINT #1, fe(i, 1); ","; fe(i, 2); ","; fe(i, 3); ","; fe(i, 4)
  'PRINT #1, fe(i, 1); ","; fe(i, 2): 'this line is not executed
NEXT i
CLOSE 1
'ready, only administrative tasks from here
'asking for next job
PRINT "Ready! New file? Y/N"
 DO
  B = INKEY$
 LOOP UNTIL B = "y" OR B = "Y" OR B = "n" OR B = "N" OR B =
CHR$(13)
  IF B = "n" OR B$ = "N" OR B$ = CHR$(13) THEN GOTO vege
GOTO eleje: start with new file
vege: 'vege means END
```

END



Figure 1. Conductivity of HCl solution

Weight %	ppm mg/litre	Sodium Chloride, NaCl	Sodium Hydroxide, NaOH	Hydrochloric Acid, HCI	Sulfuric Acid, H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	Nitric Acid, HNO <sub>3</sub>	Hydrofluoric Acid, HF	Acetic Acid (a), CH <sub>3</sub> COOH
0.0001	4	2.2	6.2	11.7	8.8	6.8	10	4.2
0.0003	ო	6.5	18.4	35.0	26.1	20	30	7.4
0.001	10	21.4	61.1	116	85.6	67	66	15.5
0.003	30	64	182	340	251	199	290	30.6
0.01	100	210	603	1 140	805	657	630	63
0.03	300	617	1 780	3 390	2 180	1 950	1 490	114
0.1	1 000	1 990	5 820	11 100	6 350	6 380	2 420	209
0.3	3 000	5 690	16 200	32 200	15 800	18 900	5 100	368
1.0	10 000	17 600	53 200	103 000	48 500	60 000	11 700	640
3.0	Rarely Used	48 600	144 000	283 000	141 000	172 000	34 700	1 120
5.0	Rarely Used	78 300	223 000	432 000	237 000	275 000	62 000	1 230
10.0	Rarely Used	140 000	358 000	709 000	427 000	498 000	118 000	1 530
20.0	Rarely Used	226 000	414 000	850 000	709 000	763 000	232 300	1 600
30.0	Rarely Used	Saturated	292 000	732 000	828 000	861 000	390 000	1 405
40.0	Rarely Used	Saturated	191 000	Saturated	770 000	820 000	N/A	1 080
50.0	Rarely Used	Saturated	150 000	Saturated	620 000	717 000	N/A	740
75.0	Rarely Used	Saturated	Saturated	Saturated	182 000	340 000	7.8 (0°C)	168
100.0	Rarely Used	Saturated	Saturated	Saturated	10 000	50 000	4 (0°C)	< 1
Point of								
Maximum	-	26%	About 50%	37%	I	I	1	I
Solubility								
Point(s) of					31%			
Maximum	1	26%	16%	18.5%	92.5%	31%	About 35%	19%
Conductivity								
Maximum Conductivity	1	244 000	412 000	852 000	830 000 139 000	862 000	N/A	1 600
(a) HAc data at 18	D°C							

Table 1. Foxboro data of conductivity vs. Concentration [192]

DOI: 10.14750/ME.2021.039